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Tuesday, January 10, 2006

--- Upon commencing at 9:05 a.m.
     MS. NOWINA:  Good morning, everyone.  Did some people think we were starting at 9.30?  And we do have competition next door, so if anyone comes in and thinks they are in the 2006 generic issues for EDR, they're not in the right place.
     Today is the second day in the hearing of application EB-2005-0378, submitted by Hydro One Networks, for an order or orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates for the distribution of electricity.
     Today we will begin the examination of the Panel on O&M and capital.  I have one preliminary matter for
Mr. Scully.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Scully, the statement on the intervention of status of the Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities, and your client is eligible for costs on the basis of representing consumers of electricity, not as shareholders of municipal utilities.  So we will evaluate your cost submission at the end of the proceeding based on your representing those consumers.
     MR. SCULLY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Are there any preliminary matters from any parties present?
     MR. ROGERS:  There's one matter I have, Ms. Nowina, if I might, and it really is addressed to Mr. Vlahos.   Yesterday, Mr. Vlahos was asking Mr. But at the end of the day about the econometric models and why the weather normalization was at the beginning of one model and at the end of the other.  

I made inquiries at the close of the day, and I'm instructed, sir, that it’s as Mr. But did tell you, that the monthly econometric model must inject the -- it's a very sensitive model, I understand and therefore the weather normalization must be done at the beginning of the process.  On the annual forecast, it is not necessary to do it at the beginning of the forecast as in the monthly.  Traditionally, it has been done at the end, as Mr. But explained.  

I don't believe there's any other rationale for it other than that's tradition.  It's worked well.  It's assistant with the way it's done in the industry and therefore seems to be no need to change to make that consistent.  Hope that helps.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.
     MS. NOWINA:  Are there any other preliminary matters?  Mr. Rogers, are you ready?
     MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I have a large panel, as you can see, this morning, to deal with the OM&A topics.  It’s quite a broad topic, so we have quite a number of witnesses.  We have quite a number of witnesses.  Perhaps I could just introduce the Panel to you, Madam Chair, and have them sworn and then I will qualify them.
     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.
     MR. ROGERS:  Beginning closest to the Board is 

Mr. George Juhn.  Next to him is Mr. Raymond Gee.  In the middle, we have Mr. George Carlton, who I will ask to quarterback this Panel and direct people to the proper witness, if necessary.  Next to him we have Mr. Mike Penstone.  And the closest to me is Mr. Kevin Thompson.  

If they could be sworn, I will then qualify them.  

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS – PANEL 2:

GEORGE JUHN; Sworn.
     RAYMOND GEE; Sworn.
     GEORGE CARLTON; Sworn.
     MIKE PENSTONE; Sworn.
     KEVIN THOMPSON; Sworn.
     MR. BETTS:  The Panel has been sworn.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Betts.
     MR. ROGERS:  This may be the first time in the history of the am Board that the witnesses outnumber the intervenors.
     MS. NOWINA:  I don't think it will last long, 

Mr. Rogers.

EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS:
     MR. ROGERS:  Could I begin with you, Mr. Juhn.  Your curriculum vitae has been filed in this proceeding as Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 2, and it, I take it, is an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience.
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.
     MR. ROGERS:  You are a professional engineer, having achieved your degree in 1982.
     MR. JUHN:  That's correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  You're presently manager of lines and right of way programs with Hydro One.
     MR. JUHN:  Yes.
     MR. ROGERS:  And system investment division asset management.  That's the group that you work with, is it?
     MR. JUHN:  That is correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  Now, you've been with Hydro for some time, the predecessor.  When did you start with Hydro?
     MR. JUHN:  1990.
     MR. ROGERS:  And prior to that, your qualifications and your experience are set out in your curriculum vitae.
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.
     MR. ROGERS:  I see you've had experience before coming to Hydro with other electric utilities.
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, I have.
     MR. ROGERS:  Now, Madam Chair, this Panel is a bit unique because we can't identify precisely which section each witness is responsible for.  There's a considerable amount of overlap.  

But Mr. Juhn, can you just help us generally:  What type of area is it that you're responsible for?
     MR. JUHN:  In a general sense, it's the development of the programs and the rationale behind the development of those programs.
     MR. ROGERS:  Now, you have read the material that is set out in Exhibit A19 which shows the areas that this Panel is dealing with?

     MR. JUHN:  Correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  And to the best of your knowledge and belief that those sections accurately reflect the company's affairs.
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, they do.
     MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.
     Mr. Gee, once again, sir, your curriculum vitae has been set out in the Exhibit A, at tab 19?
     MR. GEE:  Yes.
     MR. ROGERS:  And it accurately reflects your qualifications and experience?
     MR. GEE:  Yes.
     MR. ROGERS:  You, sir, I understand, presently are the director of work management and technical services, customer operations, with the applicant company?
     MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  You also are an engineer, having obtained your degree in 1992 from Queens University?
     MR. GEE:  Yes.
     MR. ROGERS:  And you have, I see, a business organization and behaviour industrial relations qualification from Carlton University?
     MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  You have read the material that is covered by this panel?
     MR. GEE:  Yes.
     MR. ROGERS:  And can you assure us that to the best of your information it accurately reflects the company's affairs?
     MR. GEE:  Yes, it does.
     MR. ROGERS:  What areas will you be responding to generally?
     MR. GEE:  With field operations and customer operations, so any questions about field executional work and field operations in general.
     MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Gee.
     Mr. Carlton, you, sir, are the director of business integration asset management with the applicant company?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  Yes, I am.
     MR. ROGERS:  Once again, I’ll ask you:  The qualifications and experience set in your curriculum vitae is accurate?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes, it is.
     MR. ROGERS:  And you have reviewed the material that this Panel will be discussing.  As far as you know, it is an accurate reflection of the company's affairs?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes, it is.
     MR. ROGERS:  I see that you have an honours bachelor degree in mathematics from the University of Waterloo in 1975.
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MR. ROGERS:  You went on to the University of Toronto, where you obtained a master of engineering degree in industrial engineering.
     MR. CARLTON:  Correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  You also hold a diploma of business administration from the University of Toronto.
     MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  What general areas will you be dealing with?
     MR. CARLTON:  Generally the processes, planning, budgeting, reporting, monitoring around OM&A programs and policies that might be associated with those.
     MR. ROGERS:  I've also asked you to be the director of the Panel, if you would, and help intervenors, if necessary, to find the proper witness for their questions.
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes, I'll do that.
     MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Penstone, you, sir, are presently employed as director of system investment with the applicant company?
     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  And you've worked with the Ontario Hydro for sometime, I believe.  When did you start with the old Ontario Hydro?
     MS. LEA:  Mr. Penstone, could you turn one of the microphones toward you?
     MR. ROGERS:  Have you worked with Ontario Hydro or the successor company since that time?

     MR. PENSTONE:  I have.

     MR. ROGERS:  You hold a bachelor of applied science and electrical engineering from McMaster University achieved in 1979.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And you've read the material to be covered by this Panel, have you, sir?


MR. PENSTONE:  I have.


MR. ROGERS:  And so far as you're aware, it accurately reflects the company's affairs?


MR. PENSTONE:  It does.


MR. ROGERS:  What general areas will you be responding to?


MR. PENSTONE:  The processes used to prioritize our work program.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much. 


Mr. Kevin Thompson. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You presently are employed as the manager of business planning with Hydro One Networks? 


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  I see from your curriculum vitae that you hold a degree in mathematics and computer science from Queens University.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I do.


MR. ROGERS:  And also a masters of business administration from York University which you achieved in 1997.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  The curriculum vitae that's contained in the evidence is an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience? 


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  And have you also read the material that is covered by this Panel as filed with this Board? 


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I have.


MR. ROGERS:  So far as you're aware, is it an accurate reflection of the company's affairs? 


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  What general areas will you be responding to this morning?


MR. THOMPSON:  Areas around cost efficiency, fleet, and supply chain management.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Thompson.


That qualifies the Panel, I hope, Madam Chair.  And I have a few questions to ask since yesterday just to summarize the position, very, very brief, if I could, asking Mr. Carlton. 


Mr. Carlton, I wonder if you can help me just provide an overview to the Board as to what this Panel will cover.  It's a big Panel.  First of all, can you tell us what is this Panel here to address?


MR. CARLTON:  Hydro One manages its capital at OM&A planning and work execution on a work-based approach focusing on programs and projects.  This work-based approach leads us to group our investments into a number of categories: sustainment, development, customer care shared services and taxes other than income tax.  This Panel will address the sustainment development and operations program and projects supporting our distribution business. 


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Now, this Panel is going to deal with sustainment, development, and operations.  Just briefly explain to the Board, if you would, what work is covered by those headings.


MR. CARLTON:  Sustainment work is carried out to maintain our existing distribution line and station facilities such that they continue to function as originally designed, typically to support a rural-based

system.  Development activities involve carrying out the analysis needed to expand the system in a timely manner to accommodate system growth as well as to maintain our delivery system reliability and service to our customers.  And the operation's function manages the realtime operations of the system, including dispatch of field crews to distribution system problems.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Now, we're here, of course, to talk about the level of costs being applied for.  What is the basis of the proposed cost levels in this application? 


MR. CARLTON:  The proposed work program levels are based on our work program prioritization process model which is designed to provide assurance that our investment levels ensure an acceptable level of risk and support

business values.  In developing our business plan, the following factors are taken into account: customer needs, operational performance, assets conditions, financial performance and environmental compliance, public employee safety and legal and regulatory considerations.  This results in an investment plan that is then reviewed with and endorsed and confirmed by our senior management team and our board of directors.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  How successful do you feel that this process has been in developing prudent investment levels for this company? 


MR. CARLTON:  Over the 2002 to 2004 time frame, when we've used this prioritization model, we've essentially maintained or improved all our operations performance metrics.  We've exceeded OEB targets for customer service metrics.  We have improved reliability, particularly in our interruptions, where our saving has gone from 9.4 hours of interruptions per customer to 6.5, at a time where the industry is going through significant change and significant cost pressures.  We have maintained our residential customer satisfaction levels and significantly improved our mid-sized customer satisfaction levels and we have maintained our top safety performance as well as significantly improving the number of serious

incidents and lost time injuries arising from these  incidents.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Mr. Carlton.  And finally I'd like to ask you about how these proposed investment levels benchmark with other utilities, if you can.


MR. CARLTON:  Hydro One is a unique service provider due to its geographic diversity, its size, its climate, its customary mix, its density, and its integrated transmission and distribution provision.


As a result, Hydro One is specifically not commissioned to external benchmark studies.  However, we do collect readily available external utility data from a

variety of sources to identify where we might find utility best practices that might be useful within this company to improve our performance and efficiency.  And we focus on year-over-year improvements rather than collecting external benchmark data.  The evidence provides a strong record

of implementing some productivity improvements which have resulted in significant cost savings which have been built into our investment plan to the benefit of our rate payers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Just before I turn the Panel over for cross-examination, there is one thing I would like to ask, Mr. Juhn:  Have you ever testified before? 


MR. JUHN:  No, I have not.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Gee, have you ever testified before?


MR. GEE:  Yes, I have.


MR. ROGERS:  Before this Board? 


MR. GEE:  Yes, I have.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Carlton, how about this you?


MR. CARLTON:  No, I haven't.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Penstone?


MR. PENSTONE:  No.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  No.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  


Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  As a matter of fact, Mr. Gee, I seem to remember cross-examining you.  You've been here before.


MR. GEE:  I'm not sure that's a good thing.


MS. LEA:  Oh, come on.  It was fun.  


Mr. Rogers, with respect to this Panel, then, when I look at the entire list of subjects upon which they are to testify, I should ask this Panel all my questions regarding the OM&A sustaining development operation, the capital budget to sustaining development and operations, and also for services quality performance, the maintenance of targets and also the questions with respect to the Sudbury region, should I have any.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:


MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, my cross-examination will largely follow the order of the topics that are set out on that Panel list.  And in the OM&A area, I have three chunks of questions.  The first set of questions deals with the general overview of OM&A, if I can put it that way, to set some context.  I have some questions about sustaining.  I have some questions about operations.


So I'll begin, then, with the OM&A aspect of matters, although I understand that the witnesses are not divided specifically into OM&A and capital.  And as I go through these contextual questions, my intention is not to get into details.  So if my questions belong to another Panel, let me know.  Otherwise, if you could try and assist us. 


Most of my references in this first part will be to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1.  So in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, I'm looking at table 1, which appears at page 2 of that exhibit.  And you've indicated in that table that you're OM&A expenditures will be increasing at over 10 per

cent in each of the bridge year 2005 and the test year 2006 to a total of 423.1 million in the test year; is that correct? 


MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  It appears to us from that table that we see slow growth in OM&A expenditure in 2003 and 2004, with a jump of 10 percent, over 10 percent in 2005, and then again over 10 percent in the test year.  So over a two-year period, it's a nearly 22 percent increase in OM&A.  Now, I know the percentages are not on that table, but would you agree with me that those are ballpark figures for those increases? 


MR. CARLTON:  I'll trust your math.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Thiessen's math in this case.  Can you describe for me the major reasons for the escalation of this expenditure in the years 2005 and 2006, please.


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  First I'll deal with 2006 over 2005.  If I look at the total bottom line, if you're referring to the 346 to 382 to 423, the 382 to 423 is primarily due to pension.  So up until -- in 2006, what we're coming forward with is the pension cost to include a revenue requirement of $39 million and that's the primary increase for 2006 over 2005.  Other than that, it's general escalation and some program growth. 

        2004 over 2005 - although there might be some escalation - is primarily growth.  If you look at that, about $14 million of that increase is due to shared services and other OM&A.  And I would leave that for Panel 4 to discuss.
     The balance of the work is in sustainment -- is in the sustainment budget.  So if you look at table 1 in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.
     MR. CARLTON:  We talk about sustainment.  You'll see most of the growth is in the lines maintenance area.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  I have a couple of questions, then, about the pension aspect, which you say was the big driver for the increase of 2006 over 2005.  I recognize that we're having a pension panel come.
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  But I was going to ask you a few questions to understand the context of it.
     As I understand it, in 1999 your revenue requirement contained no pension cost; is that correct?
     MR. CARLTON:  I believe that's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  And then there was a period of time where you had contribution holidays for the employer?
     MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  Now, you mention in your evidence the RP-2004-0180 decision.  What was that decision and how did it affect the treatment of pension costs and OM&A?  It was my reading of that case that it allowed you to set up a deferral -- defer pension costs on an interim basis.
     MR. CARLTON:  That's my understanding.
     MS. LEA:  So are you saying I should make any detailed inquiries about this case to the pension panel?

     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  So how is it that now the pension costs that you've mentioned begin to show up in rates?
     MR. CARLTON:  When we started to incur pension costs in 2004, those costs were set up in a deferral account and weren't showing up in our OM&A or capital -- OM&A costs.  In 2006, with this rate hearing, what we've done is those costs are part of our ongoing labour costs and we have built them into our rates.
     MS. LEA:  But not for the bridge year?
     MR. CARLTON:  That is correct.
     MS. LEA:  Now, you've indicated that these pension costs are the greatest contributor to the OM&A increase in the test year.  What is the general increase in O&M in the test year without the impact of the pension costs?
     MR. CARLTON:  Essentially it's flat.  If I look at this, for instance, the sustainment development operations, our total 2005 costs would be -- if you add the 228.8, the 6.3 and 11.8, it’s about 247 million, the test year is about 249 million.  So essentially it's flat.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I did have some confusion about the amount that's actually in the OM&A budget for pension cost.  Can I refer you, please, to Board Staff interrogatory number 1, which is Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 1.  Have you got that interrogatory before you, gentlemen?
     MR. CARLTON:  H11.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  On page 2, table 2, here is a components of change previously approved versus proposed revenue requirement chart.  And when I look at the pension impact, I'm a bit confused because it says, Pension impact in OM&A net of tax deduction on capitalized pension, 27 million, remaining increase in OM&A, 26.  And yet we're talking about 38 million or nearly 39.  I don't understand what this means.  

I know that you can't explain everything about pensions, but I do need to know what is the actual contribution to the OM&A increase of pension cost.  Is it 27 or is it 38?
     MR. CARLTON:  I can't reconcile that.  I don't know the answer to that.  Within the OM&A program, we've included $39 million of pension costs.  And how that reconciles to those numbers, I don't know.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Can you refer me to the piece of evidence that demonstrates in mathematical terms that that 39 -- 38 to 39 million is included in the OM&A budgeted, that that is the figure?  Which schedule shows that that is the figure that goes in?
     MR. CARLTON:  It's not that evident that you'll see those costs.  What happens -- what you will see is in shared services and other OM&A, you'll see a jump of 234 to 67.9.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  You're referring me to which page and which schedule?
     MR. CARLTON:  I was back to table 1.
     MS. LEA:  In C1, tab 2, schedule 1?  In one moment, please.  Sorry to be so particular on you, but the Board has to set rates based on the numbers.  C1, tab 2, schedule 2 again?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  If you look at the shared services and other OM&A, in 2005 is 23.4 and then it jumps to 67.9.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.
     MR. CARLTON:  The way the pension has been handled is the – there is a credit against OM&A and capital for the amount of pension that's going in the deferral account.  So that appears under shared services and other OM&A.  So that credit disappears in 2006.  So you'll see that big jump.  

Now, the pension costs themselves are built into labour rates.  So for every dollar of labour that's charged to work program, there's a component in their pension so that pension is distributed across all work programs.
     MS. LEA:  I think I understand that explanation, then.  What remains is to get an understanding of how that relates to the numbers that appear in H1, tab 1, schedule 1 -- sorry.  H, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2, table 2.  And I am presuming - but I will need someone from Hydro One to give us the actual answer - that although the cost is recorded in OM&A as 38 to 39 million, there is some credit to some other account somewhere which reduce it to 27.  And I honestly don't know what the answer is and I'm asking which panel will give us this answer or do you want to take an undertaking now?
     MR. ROGERS:  Why don't we do that.  Ms. Nowina, if we could just take an undertaking and I'll try to file something.  I don’t think this panel will have the detail, but we will reconcile the table.  I think that's what you're asking.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  And I'll also need to know, 

Mr. Rogers, that if I have questions arising out of that, that it is the compensation of pension panel that will deal with it, I presume.
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  If it's possible to get the answer before the panel takes the stand, that would be greatly appreciated.   

So undertaking J2.1 would be reconciliation of the figures in H1, schedule 1, page 2, with the 38 million -- what is the exact figure, sir?
     MR. CARLTON:  38 or 39.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  Okay.  Shall we call it 38.5?  You're the witness, sir.
     MR. CARLTON:  I call it 39.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  It's referred to as 38 in the evidence, so I'll call it $38 million of pension costs.  To be more clear, then, reconciliation of the figures at H1, schedule 1, table 2, with the $38 million in pension costs.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  reconciliation of the figures

at H1, schedule 1, table 2, with the $38 million in 

pension costs.
     MR. ROGERS:  We'll even do more than that, Ms. Nowina, we’ll get the right, precise number for you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Good idea.
     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, excuse me, I'm sorry.  Just so that we don't bounce around on this issue, I wonder if I could ask perhaps Ms. Lea:  You asked an earlier question, Ms. Lea, of the panel on what the OM&A figures would look like absent the pension costs.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  That was the next question.
     MR. WARREN:  And what I was wondering is if we could factor the answer that we're getting on the undertaking into that so that we understand what the impact is, whether it's 27 or 38.  I apologize for interrupting, but if I come back to it two hours hence it will make the record muddied.
     MS. LEA:  I appreciate that, Mr. Warren.  It's a good suggestion. 

I guess I was going to go there next.  As I understand, these witnesses have said that the driver behind the increase in 2006 is largely the $38 million in pension costs.  If it turns out 27 is the figure, where are we on the drivers on OM&A?


MR. ROGERS:  I think I understand the thrust here.  Let us see what we can come up with.  The problem is these pensions costs are spread out over each unit of work.  We can do what Ms. Lea has asked.  I am not sure -- I want to think about Mr. Warren's extension.  But if we can, we will.


MS. NOWINA:  Help me to understand Mr. Warren's question.  I think I do and I think I have the same question, that is, if the correct pension number is 27, then what accounts for the difference between that and 38 or 39.  All right.  So we can include that in the same undertaking? 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you. 


MR. BETTS:  Sorry.  But did I not understand the question also to be what would the budget look like without pension costs in it, or not? 


MR. WARREN:  It really was a segue from -- Ms. Lea put it a couple of minutes ago, precisely what are the drivers.  If it's 27 and what's the amount of the increase and what is the driver for that increase?  What's missing?  That's also what I was looking for.


MS. NOWINA:  So just to be clear, in answer to 

Mr. Betts's question, that number, what it would look like without the pension cost is the total number minus 27 or 38, depending on which number we find out that it is.  Is that correct?  So we'll be able to do that simple math or

you will provide it.


MR. ROGERS:  It's a little more complicated than you might imagine.


MS. NOWINA:  It usually is Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  If you leave it with us, I understand the spirit of the question and we'll try to meet it.


MS. LEA:  Thanks.  When we get to the pension panel we can get to the nasty details if necessary.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


Now, Mr. Carlton, I also have questions about how the $38 million amount was determined for pension costs.  Do I understand that I should direct those questions to the compensation of pension panel?


MR. CARLTON:  Yes, please.


MS. LEA:  In fact, you're going to bounce everything you can, eh? 


MR. CARLTON:  No.


MS. LEA:  One moment, please.  I just have to figure out what I'm doing here. 


I'd like to now have a look at the relative increase in OM&A cost to other measures that appear in the evidence and elsewhere.  Your increase in OM&A costs is higher than any other cost escalation evidence in your application.  I wonder if you could look at Board Staff interrogatories 13, that's H113, and also H1-31, Board Staff 31 and 32. 

So three Board Staff interrogatories, 13, 31, 32.  And if I didn't give a number to that undertaking, it's J2.1.


MS. NOWINA:  I believe you did.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you. 


Do you have Board Staff interrogatory 13 before you? 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, you've given us here the CPI, Ontario percent, that you've reported in the evidence, and also the distribution cost escalation for operations and maintenance.  Can you describe what this cost escalation number is? 


MR. CARLTON:  That's a measure that we use to look at a general escalation for operation maintenance.  The CPI metric isn't quite appropriate for escalating our costs, since it really includes a number of items, such as, food, housing, clothing, those types of escalators.  The

distribution cost for OM&A focuses a lot on commodity prices, the price of metal, which drives the escalation.  Therefore, internally what we use typically would be the distribution cost escalator for OM&A rather than a CPI-type

indicator.


MS. LEA:  And how do you determine what the escalator should be? 


MR. CARLTON:  We typically use what's provided by global insight in this escalator when we do our escalation.


MS. LEA:  So you have a basket of goods or commodity materials, prices? 


MR. CARLTON:  Typically, yes, unless we knew better information about some particular item particularly, we would use this escalator. 


MS. LEA:  Now, it's obvious that the escalators for 2005 and 2006 are nowhere near 10 percent and we've had some discussion about the 2006 increase, presuming for the moment that it's pension costs.  Can you tell me why there's an increase in 2005 that's significantly greater than the cost escalator here?  You started to tell me about that, but I need to understand in more detail why your costs are being driven more than the cost escalator or basket of goods there. 


MR. CARLTON:  Our changes, year over year are more than just escalations, but we would have built into it some program growth.  So typically we would likely see escalation in the range of excluding pension and OHIP, other benefits would be escalation of 3 percent.  We've got labour increases worth about 3 percent a year plus the general OM&A escalator.  So some of the growth is program.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I ask you just to be sure you speak into the microphone and keep your voice up.


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I think that I'll leave further detailed questions about that to my questions on sustaining and operations.  


If we look at Board Staff interrogatory number 31, you provided us with what we acknowledge to be a rough or simple calculation with respect to OM&A cost per customer and per circuit kilometre of line.  However, even if we

acknowledge that this is a rough measure, it does appear to us that there is a significant increase in the cost per customer in 2005 and 2006, about 9.6, near 10 percent for each of those years. 


So would you agree that it appears that the increase in OM&A is certainly not due to any increase in customers?  It's, as you've said, possibly pension costs for 2006 and for 2005.  Your programs were not driven by an increase in customers or the increase was not driven by an increase

in customers? 


MR. CARLTON:  The increase is driven by a number of things, certainly driven by escalation.  It's also driven by asset needs, by reliability requirements.  We've got an aging system by just maintaining the assets.  It's driven by a wide variety of things, as well as customer growth.


MS. LEA:  What proportion or amount of the increase would you attribute to customer growth? 


MR. CARLTON:  I wouldn't have that breakdown.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And would you have any -- or anyone on the Panel have any information as to whether kilometres of line increased by 10 percent or what the kilometre of line increase was for 2005 over 2004? 


MR. CARLTON:  We certainly don't have it yet.  Does anyone else have?  No, sorry.


MS. LEA:  No.  Okay.  There is one other interrogatory I'd like you to look at, please, and that's AMPCO interrogatory number 4, and I'll get you the exhibit number for that.  It's H8, schedule 4.  H8, schedule 4.  And the reason I was asking you to look at that is in the response to Board Staff's interrogatory number 32, you've indicated that you've not performed a formal benchmarking study and you've reiterated that evidence today.  And one of the reasons that you give in that interrogatory for the

lack of benchmarking is that finding comparable data is very difficult. 


When you look at AMPCO interrogatory number 4, Exhibit H8-4, you've indicated, though, that you do collect some external utility data.  And in this interrogatory, you indicate that Hydro One is ranked reasonably highly in two comparisons, one using FERC data and one using data from another group, PA Consulting Group.
     Does the data here that you've collected, does that suffer from the comparability problems or compatibility problems that you speak of?
     MR. CARLTON:  It may well.  What we've done there is look at companies who kind of look like us, collect data, and do a comparison to identify if there are any we might learn something from.
     MS. LEA:  When you say that kind of look like us, what characteristics did you seek or compare in these external studies?
     MR. CARLTON:  Our customers who would be our size who might have a wide geography, who might have a -- base as well as a particular urban-base utility, those type of things.
     MS. LEA:  You don't have any information as to the growth in O&M for these external utilities, say, in the last two years?
     MR. CARLTON:  I don't have that, no.
     MS. LEA:  I'd like to turn, then, to some more detailed questions about the sustaining or sustainment part of the O&M costs, and I'm looking at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2 for a lot of these questions.  That's C1, tab 2, schedule 2.  And the first table that caught our attention is at page 3 of that schedule, which shows table 1, which is the sustaining OM&A overall figures.
     And I'm sorry, I don't know to whom to address my questions, but I gather that sustaining represents over half of all the O&M spending for the test year?
     MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  I'd like to have a look at the stations category of spending.  Now, this apparently --there's going to be $21.5 million of spending in the test year and this is an increase of 12 percent, approximately, over the 2005 figures?  Is that correct?
     MR. CARLTON:  Okay.
     MS. LEA:  Yes?  All right.
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  I don't know the percentages.
     MS. LEA:  Subject to check, as they say.
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  We see at table 2 on page 4 of schedule 2 some information about stations O&M.  Now, one of the reasons that you give at page 7 of C1, tab 2, schedule 2 for the increased cost is the increasing trend in failures.  Do I understand your evidence correctly?
     MR. JUHN:  That is correct.  Transformer failures.
     MS. LEA:  Transformer failures.  And when did you begin to notice this trend?
     MR. JUHN:  2002 was the first spike, and since then it's levelled off.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Yes.  In Board Staff interrogatory number 5, there is shown the failure trend, and it doesn't appear to increase from 2002 to 2006 very much.  You'd agree with that?
     MR. JUHN:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Oh, did I say five?  I meant 35, Board Staff interrogatory 35, H1-35.
     Why, then, is there an increase in the test year for particularly -- do failures drive the increase for the test year as well?  If the problem -- I guess my question is:  If the problem was largely occurring or noticed before 2002, why do we have the increase in 2006 to deal with this issue?
     MR. JUHN:  The failures that have materialized, to get them under control requires passive condition assessment, processes and information gathering to understand the situation and then respond to the transformer facilities that we do have, and that is the primary increase for the test year, is the additional emphasis on the transformer facilities.
     MS. LEA:  Additional emphasis.  So did you spend anything on these transformer facilities to begin to correct these problems before the test year?
     MR. JUHN:  We have been carrying out our maintenance programs, our major station maintenance programs, continually.  However, to understand the failure modes, to respond to the failure modes, there is diagnostics required, and for us to respond to that, we need the information.  And 2006 is basically the year that -- 2005 and 2006 are the years that cost increases have shown up because of our emphasis on the transformer plant.
     MS. LEA:  And when did you begin the diagnostics or preliminary work, if I can call it that, to address these failures?
     MR. JUHN:  The specific time, I'm not aware of.  It's the implementation of our preventative maintenance optimization, and that occurred over a couple of years.  And the specific time, I'm not familiar with, but it would have started relatively soon after we took stock of the situation.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  So you were doing some work prior to the test year.  Can you just reiterate for me, then, what drives a particular increase in the test year on this program.
     MR. JUHN:  There's greater emphasis on mid-life maintenance on our transformers.  There's the MUSs, additional maintenance on the MUSs.
     MS. LEA:  And MUSs are?
     MR. JUHN:  Excuse me.  Mobile substations.  And there's also additional emphasis on our spares pool, maintaining our spares pool.
     MS. LEA:  And this emphasis is increasing in the test year particularly?  I don't --
     MR. JUHN:  The major increase, yes, between 2004 and 2006 is associated with a number of those activities.

MR. DINGWALL:  I don’t wish to interrupt the flow of Ms. Lea’s cross-examination, but I'm informed that some of the folks at the back of the room, while they don't have paid seats, still would like to hear and are having a bit of trouble.
     MS. LEA:  You may need to get closer to the mike, 

Mr. Juhn.  It's a system that does require you to be close enough.  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Please indicate if you're still having a problem.
     MR. ROGERS:  There's lots of room at the front here too, if people would like to come up.
     MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, I wonder now if we could look at C1, tab 2, page 4 again, which is the stations chart.  And if you look at the planned maintenance, which is the second line on that chart, again we see a fairly significant increase in 2005 and 2006 in planned maintenance.  Has there been some delay in planned maintenance over 2002 to 2004?  There was a decline from 2004 to 2003 and significantly in 2005 and some increase in 2006.  Can someone explain that pattern to me?
     MR. JUHN:  The increase of maintenance is attributed to, in large part, the transformer type of activities that we had spoken about just before.
     MS. LEA:  So this is planned station maintenance?
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.
     MS. LEA:  And what, then -- if you were aware of the failures by 2002, why then did the budget for planned station maintenance decrease in 2002 and 2003 and 2004 and increase substantially in 2005?

MR. JUHN:  During the 2002 to 2004 period, there was the implementation of the preventive maintenance optimization, which drove costs down to some extent.  There was also -- in 2002, there was a significant emphasis on the acquisitions at that particular time in terms of data collection and such.  And then following that, the cost stabilized and as we're getting more information on the condition of our transformers, we believe it's a prudent thing to increase our maintenance effort on these facilities to ensure that reliability is maintained and our customers don't receive significant outages.  Because when these transformers fail, the complete station goes out and customer impact is significant.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So in the 2002 to 2004 period, would it be correct to say you weren't ready to ramp up the corrective action in planned station maintenance? 


MR. JUHN:  I'd have to go into the details, but that would be my initial reaction.  And in terms of information, in terms of availability to do the work, yes.


MR. PENSTONE:  There may be another explanation of that.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. PENSTONE:  And that concerns the overall prioritization of this work relative to other work that is being done to achieve the corporate objectives.  As you can see from our evidence, we have multiple programs.  And in the course of determining where is the best place to

spend our money, we prioritize our work based on results and risk, the results that we're expecting to achieve and the risks we're trying to mitigate.  So from a year-to-year basis, it's not unusual to see expenditures on one particular area or one particular program to go up and

down because we've identified that the benefits or residual risks of spending in that area don't justify it, and rather, we should focus in another area that achieves the best results in terms of fulfilling our corporate objectives.


So it's a matter that, you know, year over year we continually assess what is the best place to spend our money on various programs.  So we can see programs go up and down.  And to your earlier point, we may have identified that in fact our transformers were not getting the necessary maintenance that they deserved in 2003 and 2004, but quite frankly, the money would have been better spent in vegetation management or wood pole replacement or some of our other programs.  We would have had better bang for the buck by spending it in those areas.  So that's another explanation.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Penstone.  That's helpful.  As you can tell from these questions, I accept what you told me, that priorities within the company are something that the company has to manage and manages appropriately.  What I'm trying to get at is what appears to be on

the overall O&M budget significant increases.  And so I'm attempting to find the drivers of those and comparing them to past O&M spending.


So as I understand your evidence, then, you don't know what particular programs might have taken more priority than, for example, planned station maintenance in 2002 to 2004, but you're suggesting that something might have taken greater priority.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  I don't have the information with me right now to be able to say where the prioritization existed for this particular program over the course of the last several years, but I just tried to clarify or explain how certain expenditures can go up or down year after year.


MS. LEA:  Thank you. 


Mr. Juhn, should we see -- is there an inverse relationship generally between station demand and corrective maintenance and planned station maintenance?  To a simple mind it might appear that as you increase planned station maintenance, that your corrective maintenance should decrease.  Will we see that trend occurring?


MR. JUHN:  To some extent, yes.


MS. LEA:  And about what time is the lag period for that trend?  Can you assist us? 


MR. JUHN:  We haven't looked at it in the detail that I can put a year onto that value, but to give you a value on a yearly basis, but we are expecting our demand in corrective maintenance to decrease from 2004 to 2006, as you can see. 


MS. LEA:  I'd like now to turn to the lines category of sustaining spending, and I'm looking for a moment back at page 3 of C1, tab 2, schedule 2.  And we see that lines there is the largest category of sustaining spending.  And it's just under half of the total sustaining budget for the test year; is that correct? 


MR. GEE:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  And it appears that there is a similar increase in spending in the bridge year, 2005, followed by a modest decline in the test year.  And again, it's the pattern of apparently not much increase in 2002 to 2004 and then a fairly significant increase in 2005 that I would

like someone to address.  Can someone assist me as to the reason for that pattern?


MR. CARLTON:  Once again, this would be a number of issues.  There would be escalations throughout this process.  There would be asset condition information coming in.  There would be some experience based on trouble calls.


MS. LEA:  Are you able to -- I'm sorry.  Are you able to assign a proportional contribution from many of these areas?  The ones that we found that were the largest area of growth were trouble calls, line patrols and wood pole maintenance, line preventive and corrective maintenance, and customer inquiries.  Those were the areas that we identified as having the biggest areas of growth.  Does that sound correct to you? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes.  I can comment on the lines maintenance and the lines patrols and corrective.


MS. LEA:  Please.  Go ahead. 


MR. JUHN:  In terms of -- if you go to table 5.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. JUHN:  The same exhibit.


MS. LEA:  And that's on page? 


MR. JUHN:  That's on page 15.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe before you get into that explanation, Mr. Juhn, we can make sure that you're right in front of the mike, even if one of the other Panel members has to slide back for a moment.  And if you can

make sure that you're right in front of it and direct your voice into it, that would be helpful.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Juhn.  Please go ahead. 


MR. JUHN:  In terms of the patrols --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. JUHN:  -- we carry out patrols on our facilities in accordance with the distribution system code.  The patrols are done on a six-year cycle in the urban areas or in the rural areas and on a three-year cycle in a few urban centres.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  Was that a three-year cycle.


MR. JUHN:  In a few of the urban centres.  Well, in all of our urban centres.  The change between 2004 and this has continued basically 2002 to 2004, along that line of maintenance.  In 2004 and starting in 2005 and continuing on in 2006, we're implementing a data-collection

program and integrating all of our activities, which includes pole testing, our line inspections, and the data collection.  And the incremental costs associated with the data collection for 2006 is about $4.3 million.  This is going to provide the information we need, manage our facilities in the longer term.  Had we not undertaken this or started this process in 2005, we're looking at a substantially long period of time until we get the information that we need to improve the management of our

facilities.


MS. LEA:  And what about preventive and corrective maintenance? 


MR. JUHN:  Preventive and corrective?  As the asset management model took form, there was a centralized focus, and with that centralized focus there's a need to manage our defects.  And management of the defects that we collect during our patrols and such, as we gather more defects, we

do correct -- we have been correcting the more serious ones, but we're finding a significant number of other defects less serious that can be delayed for corrective work, until possibly packaging the work with possibly packaging the defect corrections with other work that goes along in our facilities.  And that's really to reduce our cost or optimize our cost.  So what we have been collecting is a significant number of defects.


There's a thrust to integrate the corrective aspect in 2005, and that continues in 2006.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. Penstone, what Mr. Juhn is describing sounds like fairly important work for the company.  Can you give us any assistance as to why the priority has shifted such that these programs are receiving more attention into 2005 and 2006?  Why didn't they receive the attention in the years previous to that?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Ms. Lea, I believe the key phrase is “the relative priority.”  I think these programs always had a priority within Hydro One.  It was a matter of determining at the time whether this was -- these types of expenditures that we're forecasting were appropriate relative to other programs.
     So prior to these years, we would have liked or preferred to have spent more money in terms of preventive and corrective maintenance, but quite honestly, we had other priorities at the time.
     MS. LEA:  And what were they, sir?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Ultimately all of these programs are designed to provide reliable service to our customers.  And reliability to our customers depends on a variety of factors.  We identified, through the prioritization process, what those factors might be and what the relative contribution of those factors would be in order to improve or enhance reliability.
     MS. LEA:  Can you be any more specific, sir?  I'm just -- I'm not arguing with you.  I'm trying to understand.
     MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  So, for example, we've determined – or previously, vegetation management was identified to be a key causal factor to our customers' unreliability and it was considered to be a larger factor towards unreliability than, say, preventive or corrective maintenance.
     So as a result of that, the focus would have been on expenditures to improve the rights of way or the state of the rights of way on our distribution lines.
     MS. LEA:  Can I turn, then, sir, to a couple of questions about vegetation management.  It's a good example.  Now, we see some information about vegetation management at C1, tab 2, schedule 2, at page 28 of that schedule.  And it is a large portion of the sustaining budget, about 40 percent of it.  And consistent with your answer, Mr. Penstone, we do see increases in spending in 2003 and 2004; is that correct?  To whoever, this question.     

MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Was there some neglect, then, of vegetation management before 2003?  Was there an increase in trouble calls or interruptions?  Whoever.
     MR. JUHN:  Could I have the question again.
     MR. CARLTON:  Well, certainly if one looked at reliability statistics you would see where in 2002, for instance, the duration of our outages was about 9.5 hours per customer, which has come down in 2004 to about 6.5.  Those relative numbers, let's say.  So we have seen some improvement to reliability provided -- increased vegetation.
     MR. PENSTONE:  And I guess the term “neglect” was a little bit strong as far as we're concerned.  I think at that time we identified --
     MS. LEA:  At what time, sir?  Sorry.
     MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry.  Back in 2002 we identified, as Mr. Juhn previously described, using the asset management techniques, the degree to which vegetation management has an adverse impact on our customers' reliability.  And we also identified that given the budgets that we had, the best expenditures of those monies to improve reliability would have been in substantially increasing our vegetation management program.
     MS. LEA:  And, sir, when we look at the chart at page 28 of schedule 2, we can see that this program continues to be a priority in 2005 and 2006; is that correct?  In other words, there's a continued increase in spending in 2005 and 2006 on this program.
     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  So it's not vegetation management, then, that is giving up money to give it to stations or lines.  It's some other program that has received less priority for the 2005 and 2006 years to give 

Mr. Juhn more money to spend on lines and stations?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Perhaps we can explain -- can I separate that question into two parts.  One is to explain why we want to continue the expenditures that we have on vegetation management.  Is that fair?
     MS. LEA:  Please.  You go ahead and answer the question any way that you think is helpful.
     MR. JUHN:  In terms of our asset condition assessment process and our review process of establishing and our decision process and establishing the work that we do, it's based on the criteria we have for what the asset needs are in the longer term.  And vegetating management is one of those programs where we have acquired information over the last number of years and we have data to substantiate that there's added work that is needed, and currently, from an optimal point of view in terms of reliability and in terms of customer impact and cost efficiency, we're not there yet.  We are heading in that direction, and that is our longer-term goal.
     MS. LEA:  Just -- and I know that Mr. Penstone might have more for this question, but just to take a moment, sir.  There's information about the vegetation management program in H1, schedule 42, Board Staff 42, which shows the outages and the relationship of outages to the choice of number of years in the clearing cycle; is that correct?
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, that is correct.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  So what was the practice of Hydro One before 2003?  Did you have a ten-year cycle or more, or what was -- what led to the difficulties that you've experienced?
     MR. JUHN:  During the 1990s, in a decentralized organization, we found that the vegetation hadn't been necessarily managed in a consistent manner.  And with the implementation of the asset management, asset condition assessment --
     MS. LEA:  And that was in what year, sir?
     MR. JUHN:  The implementation, it was about 2000.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Please go ahead.
     MR. JUHN:  The implementation of the asset management model and the asset condition assessment, we discovered that there was a significant amount of effort needed to restore the condition of our vegetation to prevent outages and also to reduce costs in the longer term.
     So we completed the analysis, which shows us that where we are currently in 2004 accomplishments, which is in the neighbourhood of the 9.7-year cycle for our facilities, we're sort of at the upper reaches where we definitely can operate and it's our objective to reduce the average cycle within the province to bring us down to a reliability level that is more consistent with the longer-term view.
     MS. LEA:  And is it -- what number of years in the cycle are you aiming for?  Would it be about eight or about nine?  Do you know?
     MR. JUHN:  It's eight.
     MS. LEA:  Eight.  Okay.  Thank you.
     MR. JUHN:  But I just want to qualify that.  Eight is not -- the program for 2006 does not achieve eight.
     MS. LEA:  Yes, I understand, sir.  You're working towards eight?
     MR. JUHN:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  Now, I don't know whether, 

Mr. Penstone, you had anything else that you wanted to talk about with respect to that program.  I have other questions on other programs.  No, okay.  Thank you.
     MR. PENSTONE:  No.
     MS. LEA:  So there is another aspect of the increase in O&M that I'd like to deal with, shown at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 10, and that's the area of trouble calls.  And I'd like you to look also at schedule H1, 36, Board Staff IR 36, please.
     Now, as I understand the evidence in the schedule 2 of C1, tab 2, page 10, there was a fairly -- a reasonably significant increase in costs again in 2005, in the bridge year, for trouble calls.  And yet in the interrogatory, when we look at the trouble calls actuals history, it appears that those are declining.  Now, there's a forecast increase in 2005 and a forecast decrease in 2006.
     Can someone explain to me the apparent discontinuity of spending versus number of trouble calls?  I guess what I'm trying to say is that there's an increase of not quite 15 percent, maybe 14 percent in the budget, but there's a forecast of a decrease, or rather, an increase of only 7 percent in 2005, and that's a forecast coming out of a decline in previous years.
     Now, that appears to us to be a little inconsistent.

MR. JUHN:  If I may. 


MS. LEA:  Please.


MR. JUHN:  The 2005 number was based on a projection from 2003, as it was made during the 2004 year.  So the number of trouble calls that were in the budget at that particular time was about 50,000.


MS. LEA:  So should we reduce that number now, having the 2004 experience? 


MR. JUHN:  I'm not aware of the final number that's in place for 2005.  For 2006, yes, we have reduced that to 47,000 trouble calls in our budget.


MS. LEA:  And so why do you -- if -- okay.  So as I understand you, we shouldn't probably not look at the 50,000 number in 2005, because it was a projected number before you had the 2004 information? 


MR. JUHN:  That is correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So then let's look at 2002 declines, 2003 declines, 2004.  Why are you predicting an increase in 2006? 


MR. JUHN:  There are a number of cost factors that contribute to the variation.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  I am just talking about the number of trouble calls in 2006.  Why are you predicting an increase in the number of trouble calls in 2006? 


MR. JUHN:  It's relatively the same number.  The actuals in 2004 were 46,800.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. JUHN:  And we're predicting 47,000 in 2006.


MS. LEA:  Right.  So you're not predicting that the trend established 2002, 2003, 2004 is going to continue? 


MR. JUHN:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  And you have a reason for that.  I know it's a small number.  I don't want to spend a lot of time on this, sir. 


MR. JUHN:  In terms of your question?


MS. LEA:  You're proposing, despite a previous decline, that trouble calls will remain relatively the same, increase very slightly in 2006? 


MR. JUHN:  That is correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, what leads, then, to the greater increase in budget than might be accounted for by the flat line in trouble calls? 


MR. JUHN:  If you compare the 2004 to 2006 --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. JUHN:  -- dollar value, the 2004 dollar value is 51.5 million and the 2006 dollar value is 54 million.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. JUHN:  The trouble call picks up the actual trouble calls themselves, but it also attracts the overhead or overtime and vegetation management costs during storm, forestry cost during storm.  Those numbers have fluctuated.  For 2004, the actual was .9 million, and what we're projecting based on an average for the premium time and the forestry storm costs is 2 million for 2006.  That represents a delta of 1.1 million, or 3 per cent.  The remaining is .9 million and that's a slight escalation.


MR. CARLTON:  In terms of escalation, we're seeing about 3 per cent per year in escalation.  That's what our labour rates are going up, if you look at that relative ratio.


MS. LEA:  It was partly the bump in 2005 that was giving me some trouble.  I think I understand better now that that bump is not to be relied on, if I can put it that way.  Can I ask if that also applies, then, to the other

services table which we find at C1, tab 2, table 2, page 22, that sustaining OM&A other services.  I was

just looking at the totals here.  I didn't break it down.  Again, what we see is some increase in 2002, 2003, 2004, a fairly large increase in 2005, and a reduction in the level of increase in 2006.


Again, is that pattern -- is that increase in 2005 a true increase - in other words, it's still projected to have those figures - or is this an increase which was set before you had 2004 data, as you've explained previously? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes, it was set before we had the 2004 final costs.


MS. LEA:  So is -- according to your evidence, then, should we look at the 2005 bridge year as a comparison for this particular expenditure?  Should we consider that increase in 2005 and inquire about what the cause of it is?  Or is it a fictional one?  I'm trying to understand what your evidence is about these 2005 increases.


MR. JUHN:  The 2005 is based on a projection.  The one

that is significantly higher than the 2005 actuals is the customer inquiries.  And the other ones --


MS. LEA:  And miscellaneous services.


MR. JUHN:  And the miscellaneous services; that is correct. 


MS. NOWINA:  I think it's important that we get clarification on this matter early in the proceedings.  I'm glad we got there.  There seems to be one area where the 2005 numbers were an early forecast and are no longer valid.  And the question before us is:  Is that generally true?  And as we're looking at trends, we can't rely on 2005 numbers?  Or do we have to look at it on a case-by-case basis or a line-by-line basis as to whether we can rely on the 2005 numbers?  Is that putting words in your

mouth, Ms. Lea? 


MS. LEA:  That's perfect.  I like them. 


[Panel confers]


MR. CARLTON:  In general, I think what we'd say is our demand activities, which are based on forecasts of demand based on history, 2005 may not be a reasonable forecast of 2006.  However, for our planned work, 2005 is a reasonable estimate.


MS. LEA:  Can you go through the tables that we've been through and tell me which are demand activities?  I'm presuming that's where customers call you up and say there's a problem generally.


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.  Or there's a storm gone through or there is trouble.  We can't predict a number of trouble calls.  But if you look at the tables, I believe there is a D indicator.


MS. LEA:  A what? 


MR. CARLTON:  On the lines in the tables you see a D.


MS. NOWINA:  That's helpful.  And those are the demand numbers.  Thank you. 


MS. LEA:  If I can just have a moment to look back, then.  Okay.  So then I see a D in stations -- sorry.  I'm going to go through -- I'm looking now at page 4.  We see the D in demand and corrective maintenance.  At page 10, we see it for all three columns, trouble calls, underground cable, locates, disconnects, reconnects.


MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Page 22 for customer inquiries and investigations and data collection.  For vegetation management at page 28, unplanned maintenance.  And I see that you have that -- the little note underneath the table, had I paid attention to it, which might indicate this.  But

it's very helpful to have it emphasized.  Just returning for a moment to page 22, table 7, it's only miscellaneous services, then, that we should look at the 2005 number for.  It's not -- it's a big contributor to the total.  It's not a large number compared to the rest of the company.  But

can anyone tell me what has led to the significant increase in 2005 and 2006 from miscellaneous services? 


MR. JUHN:  We responded in interrogatory H1-39.  The higher forecasts for our customer inquiries, third-party switching requests, which are included as part of --


MS. LEA:  Sorry.  You’re fading, sir.  Can you repeat that?


MR. JUHN:  H1-39 outlines that there was a projected increase in the number of customer inquiries and third-party switching requests.  The accomplishments have been adjusted, have been reduced relative to 2005 to reflect a 2004 actual.  So our 2005 is the increase from 2.8 to 3.8 based on a projection.  The adjustment was made in 2006.  And that's specifically for customer inquiries.
     MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  Perhaps I misunderstood.
     MS. NOWINA:  You were asking about miscellaneous services, were you not, Ms. Lea?
     MS. LEA:  Yes, I was asking about miscellaneous services.  I see in interrogatory 39 that you've referred us to that that's increased spending on environment, health, and safety-related programs.  So that's increased spending on employee health and safety?
     MR. JUHN:  That is correct.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  And for that we see an increase between 2004 and 2006.  The 2005 number, I presume, is a relatively valid number in this circumstance.
     MR. JUHN:  Yes.  These are planned activities.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One moment, please.  I think I understand, then, a little bit about the apparent trend in 2005.  I was wondering whether the company faced cost pressures partly because of the rate freeze during -- you know, the 2003 -- 2002, 2003, 2004 years, which might have tended to reduce spending over a period of time.  I don't know whether that affected you or not.
     MR. CARLTON:  During our business planning process, when we do the program prioritization, one of the issues we do look at is the financial constraints the company has, but that's weighed against the needs of the assets, reliability, needs of our customers and so the company makes trade-offs all the time on how much we should spend on programs.  But certainly there is some constraint because of financial.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  The last area that I want to ask you about in O&M spending - I haven't even got to CAPEX yet - is the area of operations.  And the area of operations is a fairly small portion of the total of OM&A spending; it's only about 3 percent.  There's only one thing I want to ask you about in that area and that's the Ontario Grid Control Centre.  Can anyone tell me when that was made operational?  I inferred from the evidence that it's 2004, but perhaps someone can help me with that.
     MR. PENSTONE:  It was officially placed in service in August of 2004.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  So that is one of the reasons why the spending in this area increased in that year?
     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Can someone tell me, please, what the major functions are of this centre and why a new centre was required?
     MR. PENSTONE:  The Ontario Grid Control Centre is Hydro One's integrated control centre for both transmission and distribution operations.  The new centre was -- the need for the new centre was identified in the late 1990s, when it was recognized that the existing 17 centres that Hydro One had inherited from the old Ontario Hydro, their performance was inadequate and their costs were high, and we couldn't see sustaining them in the future.  Now, these centres were termed territory operating centres and regional operating centres.  So an assessment was done in terms of what actions could be undertaken to improve the performance, our operational performance, and to reduce our operational costs, and that led to the decision to build the OGCC.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  If we look at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 4, C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 4.
     MR. PENSTONE:  Right.
     MS. LEA:  That shows us the operations budget.  And we're trying to understand the -- there was an increase in 2004, which is, I think you've agreed, largely attributable to the in-service state of that centre.  There's some decrease in the spending in 2005, and there's an increase again in 2006.  Can you give me some indication, given that you've indicated that there are significant savings with respect to the creation of this centre, why the spending is increasing again in 2006?
     MR. PENSTONE:  There's two drivers behind the increased costs in 2006.  One is the standard salary -- actually, three drivers.  One is the standard salary escalation, roughly 3 percent.
     MS. LEA:  Uh-huh.
     MR. PENSTONE:  The second concerns the fact that since it's a combined centre, a number of the operations costs are allocated between distribution and transmission.  And we have revised the allocation of the distribution component of that centre upwards.  In other words, that centre is doing more distribution-related work than we had thought it had previously, and we had undertaken a study to separate the transmission and distribution work that was done by the staff at that site.
     As a result of that study, there was a 4 percent increase in the allocation between 2005 and 2006.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.
     MR. PENSTONE:  So that -- sorry.  That accounts for about, I think, 7 percent so far.  The last driver is the fact that we will be pre-hiring additional staff.
     MS. LEA:  Pre-hiring?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry.  We will be hiring staff in 2006 in anticipation of existing staff retiring over the next five years.  So we have to hire staff now so that they're properly trained and competent.  So when we expect staff to leave the centre over the next five years, the new staff can step in.  And we're hiring roughly six or seven staff to do that in 2006.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I just wanted to explore one of those drivers further.  The allocation to distribution, it was about 5 percent of -- just a moment.  I'm just myself a little bit confused.  I wonder if you could look at interrogatory 46 from Board Staff, H1-46.
     First of all, does this table -- it appears to us to be different than the table which appears at C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 4, because it appears to show only the operation amounts and not the operating support amounts.  Am I correct about that?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  What was shown were the common costs that were through the T&D allocation, so only the first line item of table 1.
     MS. LEA:  So what happens to operation support?  Does it not get split?
     MR. CARLTON:  No.  It's directly attributed to a distribution work program.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.
     MR. CARLTON:  That's just the reason why it was done that way.
     MS. LEA:  I think I understand that.  So there's a shift –- an increase in the amount allocated to distribution between 2002 and 2006; is that correct?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes, a substantial increase.
     MS. LEA:  And was this as a result of the Rudden study or was it driven by other considerations?
     MR. PENSTONE:  No.  It was based on the Rudden study.
     MR. CARLTON:  I would like to point out, if I might, that there is a -- we've noticed an error in the chart.
     MS. LEA:  Which chart?
     MR. CARLTON:  Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 46.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.
     MR. CARLTON:  If you look at the transmission line.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.
     MR. CARLTON:  For 2003, 2004, 2005, it doesn't equal total cost.  The distribution line is correct and the total cost line is correct.  The transmission numbers for 2003, 2004, 2005 are incorrect.
     MS. LEA:  Would you be willing to undertake to re-file a corrected exhibit?
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So Undertaking J2.2, if it please the Board, would be file corrected Exhibit H1, schedule 46.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we will do that.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  


UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  FILE CORRECTED EXHIBIT H1,


SCHEUDLE 46.


MR. ROGERS:  As I understand it, Mr. Carlton, the figures for distribution are correct though? 


MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Turning, then, to the figures in distribution, one of the reasons I asked about the Rudden study is that is appears that the shift in allocation begins before the study was completed.  I was wondering if anybody had any explanation of that particular phenomenon.


MR. CARLTON:  We have done -- I believe it's two cost

allocations.  We did a time sheet study that was redone for the purposes of Rudden.  So it did change twice between the period 2002 to 2006.


MS. LEA:  One moment, please. 


I'm not sure that I'm clear yet as to the reasons for the volatility in spending, if I can put it that way, in the chart at C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 4.  There's in this case a decrease in 2005, after an increase in 2004, and then followed by an increase in 2006.  And as we've discussed, in response to Board Staff interrogatory number 7, you indicated that there were a number of operational savings achieved through the grid control centre.


MR. CARLTON:  Excuse me.  What's the reference?


MS. LEA:  Board Staff interrogatory 47, which is H1-47.  And I think that this interrogatory indicates that there was an annual savings of 17.3 million and 4.5 million of these savings was assigned to the distribution side of the business.  So I'm trying to understand the reason

for the increase in the test year. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Just to clarify.  The figures that were quoted there in terms of 4.5 million in savings, that was based on if the amalgamation had not occurred.  If we had maintained the existing operating centres and not amalgamated them into the Barrie OGCC, our costs would have been $4.5 million higher than what we've identified.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  But there are ongoing savings, or should there not be ongoing savings from this station?  Why, then, the increase in the O&M budget?  Are the savings not sustainable? 


MR. PENSTONE:  The savings have been achieved.  The increase in O&M costs are being driven by the ongoing requirements to sustain the facilities at the OGCC, and in some factors to enhance some of its capabilities to improve the performance of that operating centre.  If we had not amalgamated and created the OGCC, the costs that we've identified for distribution operations we've estimated would have been $4.5 million higher than what we've documented in our evidence.


MS. LEA:  And I think you earlier discussed the drivers behind the increase for 2006.  I think you listed three.


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Those are my questions on the O&M section of this Panel.  You were kicking me under the table, so I wobbled.  


Madam Chair, if this is a convenient time for the break, I can continue with capital and the small amount I have on SQI after the break.


MS. NOWINA:  How much longer do you think you'll take after the break, Ms. Lea? 


MS. LEA:  That's a good question.  Probably 45 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will break now.  May I ask other interveners to, in the light of Ms. Lea's cross, look at your estimates, and maybe you can give me estimates.  When you begin, Mr. Warren, you begin your cross, we can get everyone for the remainder of the cross of this Panel.


MR. WARREN:  You're asking me to pool the information from the others.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm asking all of you to get together, but I will ask each of them individually just as you begin your cross.


MR. WARREN:  It's like herding cats.


MS. NOWINA:  I don't expect you to take on that big a burden.  All right.  We'll break until 11:00. 

            --- Recess taken at 10:43 a.m.

            --- On resuming at 11:05 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Lea, are you ready to resume? 



MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Yes. 


Gentlemen, my questions on capital expenditures will follow a very similar pattern, though a shorter one, to my questions on OM&A, that is, beginning with a general overview and then going into some of the details of certain categories of spending.


And in looking at capital expenditures, I'm going to be referring to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, and schedule 2 as well, D1, tab 3, schedule 2, and schedule 3, and various interrogatories which I'll talk about when we get there.


Now, in Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, looking at table 1, which I think is at page 2 of that exhibit, and here we see the summary of distribution capital budget.  And there's a pattern of increase here where there's a fairly significant, nearly 16 percent increase in the bridge year and a smaller but still significant increase in the test year.  I would wonder if someone could explain to me the reasons for the escalation in the bridge year and the test year and if the same factor with respect to the bridge year that we found for O&M applies, that is, demand services or services that -- pardon me, for 2005, it was a lack of information at the end of 2004, I think, created some estimated numbers which may not still be representative.  If someone could let me know if that's occurring, I'd appreciate it.  


So the question, then, is:  What is the reason for the increase between 2004 and 2005?  What is the reason for the increase generally between 2005 and 2006? 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  I think the factors here would be the same as in O&M.  2004 over 2005 on the sustainment development and operations, there was a growth of about $13 million, and then a slight decline in 2006 over 2005 in that portion of our capital.


2005 over 2004 there would be some escalation, typically in the 3 percent range, like we've seen elsewhere, but program growth in the lines and maintenance sustainment.  That would be detailed in schedule 2. 


2006 over 2005 is essentially flat.  And the question on 2005, the issues are the same here as that, although we think the overall 2005 spend is correct.  When you look at individual forecasts for 2006, they were using forecast demand activities in previous years.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  Could you repeat that last statement? 


MR. CARLTON:  For the 2006, the demand activities were based on historical numbers, similar to 2005 -- similar to OM&A.  But the 2005 levels, whether they're appropriate or not overall, we still think the forecast is correct in total costs.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Is there any reason why spending on the capital budget decreased in 2004? 


MR. CARLTON:  Just give us a second to look.  Certainly when you look at 2004 or 2003, sustainment costs are going down while our developments costs are going up. There are some offsetting program changes there.


MS. LEA:  The volatility in sustainment and development that I was looking at.


MR. CARLTON:  That's right.


MR. JUHN:  In terms of the 2003 to 2004 drop, the primary reason is the poles.


MS. LEA:  Poles? 


MR. JUHN:  Pole replacement.  And if you look at 19, D1, tab 3, schedule 2.


MS. LEA:  Schedule 2, yes, page 19? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes, on table 4.  You'll note that between 2003 and 2004, there was significant drop in the pole replacement program.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Okay.  Then I will come back to that particular matter in a moment.  Is there anything else or was that about it for the drop? 


MR. JUHN:  There were some offsetting increases because that was significant.  The one was the sustainment projects, which is in the same table.


MS. LEA:  The same table on page 19? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  So line projects? 


MR. JUHN:  That's correct.  That reduced, as did -- hence -- that increased - excuse me - that increased, offsetting --

        MS. LEA:  That was the offsetting increase you were talking about.


MR. JUHN:  Right.  And also stations similar offsetting increase.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Let's look, then, at some of the details.  Start with sustaining, and the general sustaining capital chart is Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 3, shows lines for stations and lines total.  And there's a decrease in 2004, an increase in 2005, an increase in 2006, and the reasons for that decrease and those increases are similar to what you have just described? 


MR. JUHN:  Between 2003 and 2004, yes, the decrease is largely attributed to the pole replacement program, reductions in the pole replacement program in that year, the 2004 year.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Okay.  When we talk about sustaining in the capital expenditures area, is it largely stations and lines capital expenditures or is there anything else that are activities within this budget? 


MR. JUHN:  It is lines and stations.


MS. LEA:  Just stations and lines.  So if we look, then, at page 4 of Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 4, we see the stations capital expenditures.  And it appears here that the highest level of spending was in 2004, with less spending in 2005 and less again in 2006. 


Can someone explain whether there was a decision to reduce capital investment in stations, particularly in the test year compared to 2004, or what's going on here?


MR. JUHN:  There are a number of programs that make up the stations capital.  One is strategic spares, purchasing strategic spares. 


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. JUHN:  These were purchased starting in 2003, 2004, in recognition that our spare complement was not adequate.


MS. LEA:  And when was that is recognition -- when did that come to you? 


MR. JUHN:  The analysis would have taken place in the 2002 to 2003 on a continual basis.


MS. LEA:  Okay. 


MR. JUHN:  And there was an increase also as we gained information on the condition of our assets, a need to increase the station refurbishment portion of the work.


MS. LEA:  The strategic spare transformers increased, then, in 2004.  You bought a lot of what you needed in 2004, and that is why we see a decline in 2005 and 2006? 


MR. JUHN:  That is correct.


MS. LEA:  Looking at refurbishment, then, refurbishment and also demand - not the mobile substation but the third line - seems to be an ongoing increase in level of investment here.  Was that as a result of the

asset condition assessment that you've spoken of? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Was not the asset condition assessment -- did that not come out subsequent to the 2004 year?
     MR. JUHN:  The asset condition assessment requires the information needed to identify the work, plan the work, and then execute.  The asset condition assessment, it was obtained prior to -- it was obtained in the early part of the period.
     MS. LEA:  Which period?
     MR. JUHN:  The 2002, 2003, 2004, even going back to 2001.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Yes.
     MR. JUHN:  That allowed us to plan our work, allowed us to identify the locations that -- and the facilities that needed attention and as such our program has increased in stations area.
     MS. LEA:  So that was a result of the asset condition assessment which was available before 2004?
     MR. JUHN:  That is correct.
     MS. LEA:  One of the reasons that I asked you about that particular area is in Exhibit H1, schedule 35, which is Board Staff interrogatory 35, we asked you about transformer failures.  Is this relevant to the station refurbishment and demand line?
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.
     MS. LEA:  Again, when we look at the number of failures over this time period, it's a fairly flat line, but the investment is continuing to increase.  Is there any explanation for that?  Would the number of failures be an important input into the planned investment?
     MR. JUHN:  The failures are one component for the increase.  To address failures are one component of the increase.  There are other pieces of equipment that also are identified during the asset condition assessment that are addressed during the refurbishment of a station.  So as we acquire information on a particular facility, the process involves identifying the work, looking at the maintenance program, seeing how that is scheduled.  To carry out work on the stations, we require mobile substations installed.  Once those are installed, that isolates the facilities of the station from the system and that allows us to do the transformer work, to do maintenance on the transformers and to address other issues and other components in the particular stations.
     So that is the reason for the increase, and that is primarily driven by asset condition assessment for the refurbishment portion.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Perhaps I misunderstood you a bit.  If we look at the station’s capital table back on page 4 of D1, tab 3, schedule 2, when you talk about mobile substation refurbishment, is that -- does that represent the mobile substation spending that you were just referring to or is that a different thing than the mobile substations that you need for the third line?
     MR. JUHN:  The mobile substations themselves, there are transformers that are mounted on a trailer and they're brought into a particular site.  They also need maintenance.  So line 2 would be the funds required to maintain those, those mobile substations themselves, so that they are serviceable to be used for refurbishment work and also for maintenance to take the station out of service.
     MS. LEA:  So that maintenance is not a driver, then, of the increase in station refurbishment and demand?
     MR. JUHN:  The mobile substations themselves, the maintenance on the mobile substations themselves are not part of station refurbishment and demand.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  But is there some aspect of mobile substations that is part of station refurbishment and demand?  I may have misunderstood you.
     MR. JUHN:  We use the mobile substations to carry out the refurbishment work.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  But the costs of that are not included in the line for station refurbishment and demand?
     MR. JUHN:  Correct.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Perhaps we can look at the lines of capital, which is at page 13 of that same schedule, D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 13.  And this is a very large portion, about 90 percent of the total sustaining section of capital expenditures; is that right?
     MR. JUHN:  I'll accept that.  
     MS. LEA:  Sorry.  Just one moment, please.
     We see here in this table a fairly significant drop in investment in 2004 and an increase again in 2005.  Is there a reason for this drop in investment in 2004?  Was there some corporate decision to reduce investment?  What's the volatility being caused by here?
     MR. JUHN:  To a large part, it's associated with an improvement in planning, pole replacement is identified during an inspection process, and that inspection process takes place the year -- one year, two years prior to the replacement.  There is other work that is carried out on the distribution system, line modifications, other sustainment projects where we have to refurbish a complete line section.  And to integrate those poles that are identified to be substandard with the other work, there has to be a lag time associated with that from a planning point of view.  Or else if we would go out and we would inspect something and run out the following year to replace it, what could happen is that in three years down the road or four years down the road there may be a need, without having thought about it, a need to do some other work on that facility and modify that facility. 
     So this allows us a bit of time to take that information, integrate it into the rest of our work and that was an intentional reduction between 2003 and 2004 and it comes through learning as we go along with the asset management approach.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I think you provided some information about this at Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 133, which is also entitled, immediately under that, “Exhibit Listing Board Staff interrogatory 134.”  But I'm going to refer when you refer to later interrogatories in this series to the exhibit number, which is H1, schedule 33, 133 -- pardon me, 133.  And here in this interrogatory you talk about the decision to defer replacements of some poles.
     You indicate here that you planned to replace 3,000 poles in 2004.  Is that what happened, or did you reduce that number?
     MR. JUHN:  It was slightly over 3,000.  I can get the exact number for you.
     MS. LEA:  No, that's all right.  I just needed to know the rough idea.  So it's just that it says in the interrogatory you planned to replace 3,000.  I want to make sure that that was about what you did do.  Yes?  Okay.  So looking at the figures, then, does that suggest that 6,000 poles were replaced in 2003?  Because the number is that much higher?  Is it a straight-line relationship between the number of poles replaced and the cost figure?
     MR. JUHN:  No, it's not.  Other factors come into play, such as the type of facilities.  In the earlier years in the pole replacement, we were concentrating on the higher voltage lines, larger poles, so our costs, unit cost was probably a little bit higher during those years.  And as we move on with the program, we address more the rural lines, and those poles are of a smaller category, so the costs would come down somewhat.  And then there's also some cost efficiencies that were obtained with the pole replacement program.
     MS. LEA:  I was wondering whether your change in the way you're designing the program, whether you are beginning to recognize cost efficiencies now. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, we are.


MS. LEA:  Oh, Mr. Thompson.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm glad he was listening.


MR. THOMPSON:  Specifically with respect to the pole replacement program?


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  If I can take you to Exhibit C1, tab 5, schedule 4.


MS. LEA:  C1, tab 5, schedule 4.


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.  C1, tab 5, schedule 4.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Page 20.  You'll see a chart, table 6.  You'll see a chart.  Do you have it? 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  We're getting there.


MR. ROGERS:  Just wait.


MS. LEA:  It was page 20; right? 


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct. 


MS. LEA:  Can you repeat the whole reference again for us?


MR. THOMPSON:  Exhibit C1, tab 5, schedule 4.


MS. LEA:  Schedule 4, page? 


MR. THOMPSON:  Page 20.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Work efficiency indicator.  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  This piece talks specifically about the wood pole replacement program, and you can see that this table 6 shows a reduction through the period 2002 to 2006.  This is on an hours per pole now; 43.5 hours per pole in 2002 through to 32.0 hours per pole in 2006.  And so that would be an indication of the -- two things, the efficiency -- the efficiencies that we were just speaking about, as well as the change in the types of poles that we're replacing, in the earlier years being the higher voltage more expensive ones versus now the lower voltage ones which are easier to do.


MS. LEA:  And given the increase in -- there's a decrease in 2004 and an increase again in 2005 and 2006.  Do you expect these numbers, these hours per pole, to continue to decrease? 


MR. THOMPSON:  In this table 6, I see the hours per pole to continue to decrease.  I don't see the increase you're referring to.


MS. LEA:  I'm talking about -- let me back up, then.  The cost on line spending, which increases significantly in 2005 and 2006 and has been attributed by other witnesses to pole replacement.  So we've got a dip in 2004 and a rise in 2005 and 2006 in the cost.


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.


MS. LEA:  And I know that this chart you've referred me to is not going to match that exactly because there's a lag.  So my question is do you expect to see that hours per pole into the future to continue to decrease? 


MR. THOMPSON:  I expect the hours per pole in the future to remain the same as we see it in 2006 on the table.  The mix of poles, the higher voltage versus the lower voltage poles, we expect to remain the same in the future as we're suggesting in 2006.  And the efficiencies that we gained today, that we're projecting for 2006, we expect those to continue to flow into the future years as well.  What's causing the cost to go back up in total dollars is that we were doing more poles in those years.  So the hours per pole has come down, but the number of poles that we're doing has gone up.  So that's one of the factors that's driving the costs up in the 2005 and 2006 period.


MR. GEE:  If I may just add also the decision in 2004 to lower the poles and give us more planning horizon to do it, from an execution point of view, it was really helpful.  We really got to a point where we had identified a period of time to plan, execute, and get work here.  And we were able to do that.  


But with the reduction and providing a little more planning period, we were really able to make the best use of resources, time of year when crews are available, responding demand work.  So the decision to do that was part of the feedback from an execution point of view, saying it would be very helpful for us to plan/execute work if we would have a little more time.  And the whole program seemed to be able to accommodate that, and I think that's what you've seen here.


MS. LEA:  And in your field experience, Mr. Gee, then, have you found this to be of benefit to the line crews? 


MR. GEE:  Yes, absolutely.  This is a very helpful decision in the execution of pole replacement program which is planned work.  And when you look at and you've seen the volume of the demand activities we have, which we don't have a lot of control of the timing of, then you are able to have more flexibility to fit it in your plan work, and allows you to be more efficient in the use of all your resources. So we have found it very useful.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  The last area then that I want to ask you about in the capital expenditures area is the development category.  It's about 41 per cent of the total budget, I think.  And as I understand your evidence, the development budget consists of investments required to

service new customers and to meet increases in demand of existing customers.  Have I got that right? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes.


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, the increases between 2004 and 2005 and 2005 and 2006 are relatively modest if we look at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, which deals with the development capital.  D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 2 shows us table 1 with these increases. 


But what was the reason for the increase in spending in 2004?  And I think part of that answer is given in H1, schedule 134, Board Staff interrogatory. 


Now, in that interrogatory, H1, schedule 134, you cited a few reasons:  A significant increase in the number of three-phase customers, a 26 per cent increase in the length of feeder extensions, and also changes to the Hydro One connection policy.


With respect to the increase in three-phase customers, do you believe that this increase is going to be sustained into the test year?  If yes, why? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes, we do.  Our projections currently are slight increase in 2006, but that is about it for the three-phase customers.


MS. LEA:  And why do you believe that there will be a slight increase? 


MR. JUHN:  I don't have that information on hand.


MS. LEA:  Okay. 


MR. GEE:  As with many of the other demand activities, your best information is historical information and the personal judgment of the people involved.  And in looking at the historical, the historical aspects and what's happening with the customer mix, our best estimate is that it's likely to continue.  History will decide that, obviously, and it will be updated each year as we see this.  But from our point of view, it's a trend that we're seeing with customers and we've incorporated into our forecast.


MS. LEA:  Perhaps you could just clarify for us what a three-phase customer is, how a customer fits in this category.


MR. GEE:  A three-phase customer would be a customer with a larger load and/or a need.  So it is a customer that requires three phases rather than one circuit.  They tend to be farms, they tend to be smaller commercial – medium-sized commercial customers.  Almost any industry, any

large business would be a three-phase customer.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  What about the feeder extension, the increase in length of feeder extensions?  What is this trend about, and why do you believe it will continue into the test year? 


MR. GEE:  The feeder extension is when a customer is connecting beyond where we have an existing line.  So there's a green field development, a cottage development, anyone who decides to build where we are not lying along.  And again, what we have seen here with our actual experiences is more of the customers have required to have a line extension, to have the line extended to their property.  A new subdivision, although internally would all be designed as an underground, may well need a line extension to serve the new subdivision. So again, what we've seen from an experience point of view is we've had

more of our customers connected through a line extension.


MS. LEA:  And what about the Hydro One connection policy?  What was this change and why did it drive up costs? 


MR. JUHN:  The primary change was the definition for lie-along customers, customers that are adjacent to the line or very close to the line, requiring less than two spans to connect.


MS. LEA:  Two spans.


MR. JUHN:  Two spans of wire.  And those customers -- we provide the connection for those customers without a cost; where other customers, they contribute to the connection based on a discounted cash flow.


MR. GEE:  With the initial implementation of the distribution service code, Hydro One, like all utilities, set out their policy for new connections and set them up to comply with the Code.  After a couple of years of experience, we receive feedback from the Board that we may not have done that exactly as they intended.  They didn't necessarily say we were wrong, that we had done that, but it's part of interpretation.  And they asked us if we would make adjustments to come more in line with what they were thinking, rather than the written word, and that's -- that was what the policy change was about.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So that increased your costs as you had to provide more free line, if I can put it that way?
     MR. GEE:  That is correct.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions on capital expenditures.  

I now have a few questions related to the last topic on the list for you, which relates to service quality performance, adequacy of funding, and also a few questions about the issue regarding the Sudbury region.  Now, I understand that the evidence with respect to this matter is largely in Exhibit H, at tabs 2, schedule 18, at tab 5, schedule 22.  Are there any other important references for service quality indicators?  I think the main --
     MR. CARLTON:  Excuse me.  You're referencing to Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 1?
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  That's the one that I was turning back to, yes.  So Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 1.
     MR. CARLTON:  Okay.
     MS. LEA:  And some of the H references as well.  So those are interrogatories.
     I wonder if you can have a look at interrogatory -- it's H2, schedule 18.  It's a CME interrogatory, H2, schedule 18.  And also H5, schedule 22, which is a VECC interrogatory.  H5, schedule 22.  And then I think there's a Board Staff interrogatory as well in this area, H1, schedule 42.  And I think we've looked at that already for the vegetation management.
     Now, in H2, schedule 18, you've clarified that there's really no specific link between the dollars spent and an increase in any particular measure of service quality.  Have I interpreted that answer correctly?
     MR. CARLTON:  There are -- could you repeat that, please?
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  I'm looking at H2, schedule 18.
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  If you look at the last sentence of that interrogatory, I’m just referring to that:  

“There's no specific link between the dollars 

spent and an increase in the individual service 

performance but, rather, overall common benefits 

shared across the quality service indicators.”

And that's your position with regard to any attempt to link costs to an increase in the service quality indicator?
     MR. CARLTON:  I think what we're trying to identify here is that there is a link between the dollars spent and our service quality indicators.  However, if one says, How much did you budget to increase safety by 3 percent?  No, we don't do it that way.
     MS. LEA:  So any particular measure of service quality, then, it's difficult to link dollars spent to a change in a particular measure?
     MR. JUHN:  There is one in the submission that is targeted for reliability improvements, and that's in the sectionalizer program under the development, under the development program, and that is targeting improvements in reliability.
     MS. LEA:  Can you --
     MR. JUHN:  That's a specific project.
     MS. LEA:  Can you refer me to the evidence with respect to that?
     MR. JUHN:  Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3.
     MS. LEA:  All right.  It's going to take me a minute to turn that up.  So I need D1 -- has somebody got the D binder?  D1, yes?
     MR. JUHN:  Page 8.
     MS. LEA:  Sorry.  D1, tab?
     MR. JUHN:  D1, tab 3, schedule 3.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  One moment, please.  I'm sorry.  We're just having trouble locating the specific piece, but I can always borrow it from someone, if needs be.
     Okay.  D1, tab 3, schedule 3.
     MR. JUHN:  Yes.  Page 8.
     MS. LEA:  Page 8.  One moment.  I'm there.
     MR. JUHN:  It's the reliability enhancement program.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.
     MR. JUHN:  On line 19.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.
     MR. JUHN:  This is one specific project that's geared at improvements in reliability.  But other than that, it's a number of projects.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  It was in part vegetation management that I thought might be possible to tie into, because at interrogatory H5-22, which is a VECC interrogatory, you do tie some of this reliability data to tree falls during adverse weather and tree falls in general; is that right?
     MR. CARLTON:  Certainly that's correct that improvements in our vegetation management program have resulted in improved reliability.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  And is there any other service quality indicator or service quality measure that we can make a direct link to other than the ones that you've mentioned there?
     MR. CARLTON:  Are you talking about reliability?  Like, certainly customer satisfaction, for instance, would be related to our response to storms, how quickly we get out.  In fact, our vegetation management may reduce the length of the outage, which would help customer satisfaction levels.
     MS. LEA:  I guess what I'm trying to get at - and I'm sorry if I haven't made myself clear - is I'm trying to -- if you look at the issue:  Will the service quality targets of Hydro One be maintained with the proposed levels of spending?  That's the issue I'm trying to address.  So what I'm trying to do is make a link between any levels of spending on any particular thing and a measure of service quality.  And you have identified one measure where that link can be made.  But I took your answer to the first interrogatory I referred you to to be that such direct links to a particular measure are rare.  Perhaps someone can clarify this.
     MR. CARLTON:  Well, there would be other -- if you look at some of the customer service metrics like cable locates, new connects, our programs would support those measures as well.
     MS. LEA:  And which particular spending and which particular programs support those measures?
     MR. CARLTON:  I haven't done a reconciliation between programs and -- specific programs and projects and specific reliability measures.  Overall, I think our spending level supports maintaining our customer service metrics and the reliability metrics.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.
     MR. PENSTONE:  Ms. Lea, it's very difficult to draw a one-to-one correlation between, say, the number of wood poles that you're going to replace and its precise impact on reliability.  I believe that's what you're looking for?
     MS. LEA:  Well, I had understood that your evidence was that it was difficult to make such a link, and I was attempting to reaffirm that or understand truly your position on that.
     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  The improvements in reliability come as a result of multiple programs being executed.  We can't separate out the improvements in reliability that we've achieved and attribute them specifically to each program that we've executed.  So we do know that our reliability has improved.  It's improved substantially since 2002.  Can we actually break it down and say the duration was -- the reduced -– the reduction in SAIDI so much as attributed to enhancements in our operating centre, so much as a result in other initiatives?  We can't make those one-to-one parallels to specific programs.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I have a clarification question with respect to this topic, and that relates to your definition of force majeure, do I

understand that to be -- force majeure is those events that result in service interruption to 10 percent of your distribution customers?


MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Is that not somewhat a circular definition?  In other words, should this definition not be based on some measure that relates to weather or an external thing? 


MR. CARLTON:  Sorry.  There are two components.  Yes, it is related to an external event like weather.  I think they've all been weather-related except for the blackout in 2003.  Other than that, they are a specific event that impact more than 10 percent of our customers.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  A specific event defined how? 


MR. CARLTON:  Specific external event.


MS. LEA:  So it could be weather.


MR. CARLTON:  Typically it's weather.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. CARLTON:  I don't recall any one other than storms.


MS. LEA:  The only difficulty I have with the definition - and I won't take this to the nth degree - if you allow your system to decay generally, you're going to have more force majeure events, so defining force majeure by how many customers go down seems to me a little circular. 


MR. GEE:  Although I would say your argument theoretically would make sense, practically I cannot imagine an event other than weather, even with a deteriorated system, as you proposed, that would cause such a thing to happen.  It's, I guess, possible, but I couldn't imagine what it would be that would take 10 percent of the customers across the province of Ontario out in that kind of scenario.


MS. LEA:  You exclude force majeure events in calculating your service reliability indicators? 


MR. CARLTON:  We report it both ways; however, in turn, when we look at our metrics, we exclude force majeure in looking at management performance.


MS. LEA:  When you're doing your planning on spending, do you exclude force majeure events in terms of considering what needs to be done?


MR. CARLTON:  Typically that's correct.  We would do the analysis based on outages, and typically they would exclude force majeure then.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  The last questions I have relate to the evidence filed by the City of Sudbury.  And I don't want to put words in their mouth, but as I understand the evidence, they're asking the Board to request that Hydro One increase its capital and service expenditures within Greater Sudbury in an effort to harmonize or make more similar the service quality and reliability amongst all

customers within the greater city of Sudbury.  That's, as I understand, what they're attempting to say.  And that this expenditure should be covered either by reducing expenditures, other expenditures, or perhaps at the

expense of the shareholder.


Do you have actual statistics on the relevant distribution feeders that supply the customers who are part of the great city of Sudbury so that we can actually do a comparison between Sudbury and Hydro One's service?  Are there any facts we can look at? 


MR. CARLTON:  We would know which feeder supply, Sudbury, but we haven't done analysis on specific customers who they might be including in this and what kind of reliability they get.  Typically, we look at our

system and report on it, and not individual customers.


MS. LEA:  So you would have information on your feeders? 


MR. CARLTON:  We would have that, yes. 


MR. GEE:  I would like to add, having looked at that and dealing with customers in the Sudbury area, from our view, there's really no evidence that the customers that we serve in Sudbury get any different service than those from Sudbury Hydro.  In general, our numbers and metrics that are being compared to are provincial in basis, cover a whole province with a real diversity in customers and assets.  However, in a particular area, there is no evidence that individual customers receive different levels of service.


MS. LEA:  On what do you base that assertion, Mr. Gee?


MR. GEE:  From an operational point of view in dealing with that, we know that the customers in some case are served by the same lines, weather patterns are the same, outages are the same, we know our response times for

new customer connections.


MS. LEA:  Sorry.  Let me interrupt you.  When you say “the same,” do you mean the same between Hydro One and the Sudbury utility?


MR. GEE:  Probably just use the word “similar.”  There's not a significant difference that anyone has made us aware of in the level of service provided.


MS. LEA:  And have you got any facts or numbers or evidence that demonstrate this similarity? 


MR. GEE:  We do not have numbers that are set up and managed and reported in the way the SQIs do.  So the rigor for a service quality indicator to match what Sudbury has, we do not have.


MS. LEA:  What about feeder outages?


MR. GEE:  As Mr. Carlton said, we do have information on power outages that would be available.


MS. LEA:  And would you be willing to provide that?  Is that something that can easily be brought to the hearing?


MR. CARLTON:  We have that data.  How difficult it is to pull it all together and to provide it, I'm not sure.  And identifying which customers we're talking about, I'm not sure either.


MS. LEA:  We certainly --


MR. CARLTON:  It may be some rural people on that feeder as well as Sudbury customers on that feeder, so it's really difficult.


MR. GEE:  Because our distribution system is not set up to serve just the customers in Sudbury.  It is not a true comparability.  The information is similar, but it would not be apples-and-apples comparison.


MS. LEA:  Madam Chair, I'm not sure, given the caveats with respect to this information, how useful this would be to the Board in making any determination that it's considering with respect to this issue.  I hear what the witnesses have said about there being some difficulty, and I'm reluctant to put them to a lot of trouble for data

which is not particularly useful, if in fact it's not truly comparable.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry.  I can volunteer, I think.  Can you leave it with us overnight, and we'll see what might be done.  I think I understand the drift of your questions and what you're looking for.  And if I could have the evening, we can see whether there is some information that would be reasonably readily available that would address your concern.


MS. LEA:  Can I suggest this, Mr. Rogers, that I mark down as an undertaking, simply so we don't forgot it, that Hydro One will report on the availability and comparability of data on feeder outages or whatever you think is the appropriate measure that might be suitable here.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  So there will be a report on the availability and comparability.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. PENSTONE:  I will say, Ms. Lea, though, that the approach that's been advocated by Sudbury is a significant departure in terms of how we currently plan and identify our programs.


MS. LEA:  Tell us about that.


MS. NOWINA:  We don't have an undertaking number.


MS. LEA:  J2.3.  I wrote it down.


UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  THAT HYDRO ONE WILL REPORT ON


THE AVAILABILITY AND COMPARABILITY OF DATA ON FEEDER 


OUTAGES.

MS. NOWINA:  Before we leave that, I did want to make a comment on that undertaking; that's find that Hydro One report back.  If they wish to provide the information -- if you find it makes sense in the arguments you're trying to make or the evidence you're trying to present, then by all means do so.  I think it should be clear that the witnesses have made an assertion, and we don't have any evidence to go with that.  So it would be to your advantage if you could find some evidence that supports that.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  And that's one of the reasons I volunteered.  I would say this:  That it's hard to prove a negative, and I think what the witnesses have said -  I read the evidence the other evening - makes assertions or allegations and Mr. Gee said there's no evidence to support their allegations.  And the company does not keep data in a way that readily allows for a comparison, but we're going to see if we can find something that would help the Board deal with this issue.  


I will also say now while we're on the topic that the relevance I question, but I do understand it's an issue that's here and we have to deal with it.


MS. NOWINA:  We'll deal with it.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Penstone, I think you wanted to comment on the approach that Hydro One would take and the implications possibly of granting the Sudbury Hydro request or considering it.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  All of our measures, Ms. Lea, relate to the fact that Hydro One Distribution operates a provincial utility.  Our measures for customer satisfaction are based on the entire province.  We don't have measures to say -- that measure the extent to which neighbouring LDC customers, their satisfaction numbers compared to our, Hydro One's neighbouring customers.  We don't have measures in terms of reliability of how Hydro One Distribution's performance is relative to a neighbouring LDC’s performance.  We don't consider those factors in our decision-making.  We consider all of our customers as a homogenous population.  We don't focus on specific sectors or specific areas of our customer population in our decision-making.
     In our prioritization process, that's not a factor at all.
     MS. LEA:  And if you did consider some customers apart from others, what would be the result on the other customers?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Well, I should preface it by saying this is speculation.  We really haven't thought about this very much.  But I mean the potential exists that if we were required to improve service qualities in some parts of the province, other parts of the province will suffer.  We would have to redirect funds that we wouldn't have otherwise spent, and consequently, other programs would not be funded to the level that we believe that they should.  And other -- the service to other customers would deteriorate.  There would be no winners and losers.  What we try to avoid is a situation of distinct, you know, customers that receive certain preference over others.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  One moment, please.
     Thank you very much.  Those are my questions for this Panel.  I thank everyone for their indulgence over this lengthy cross-examination.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, why don't we find out first from you how long you think you're going to take. and then I will find out the same information from the other intervenors.
     MR. WARREN:  Half an hour.  The inducement to be finished by lunch is a powerful one.
     MS. NOWINA:  That's great.  I'm glad you're hungry.  Who else wishes to cross-examine this panel?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I understand that I'm to be bringing up the rear in this, and my best guess is 30 minutes, but I'll know better closer to that time.
     MS. NOWINA:  So you will be last?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Last.
     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  

MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair, Richard Stephenson.  I expect to be about half an hour as well.  I'm not sure where I fit in the queue, but I expect to be about half an hour.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, I anticipate about 20 minutes.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Madam Chair, between 15 and 20 minutes.
     MR. MacINTOSH:  I think Energy Probe would be a similar time, 15, 20 minutes.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.
     I'll assume the order is the way that you spoke up, with the exception of Mr. Shepherd, who will be at the tail end.
     Thank you.  Mr. Warren, go ahead.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:
     MR. WARREN:  Members of the Panel, my name is Robert Warren.  I act for the Consumers Council of Canada, representing the interests of the broad array of residential consumers.
     I'd like to begin with just two questions that are a kind of segue from questions that my friend Ms. Lea asked you.  And the first is:  I don't have any brief -- or anyone in the Sudbury area specifically, so my question is really in the category of idle curiosity.
     Do you attract complaints by district?  In other words, if there were people in the Sudbury area that were complaining to you about service, would you have a record of that?
     MR. GEE:  I don't believe we would have a record by location.  We do attract complaints by the type of complaint and where we're going.  I guess anecdotally from an operational point of view, we do have an operational centre in Sudbury and we have staff there that would respond.  And from an anecdotal point of view -- there are no burning, pressing issues that we are aware of anecdotally, but to answer your question, no, we don't do it by location.
     MR. WARREN:  Now, the second question by way of follow-up to Ms. Lea, and this is just a clarification and it would probably focus this a little bit.  If you would turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 10 of 33.  And the document I'm going to refer -- the document I'm going to refer to is table 4.  Do you have that, Panel?
     Now, the exchange that took place was with respect to the – this is not a normative term, and may be an inaccurate one, but the reliability of the 2000 to 2004 figures.  Those are actual figures; is that correct?
     MR. CARLTON:  That is correct.
     MR. WARREN:  What we have for 2005 is we have estimates for 2005; is that correct?
     MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.
     MR. WARREN:  And what we have for the test year 2006 is we have forecasts; is that correct?
     MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Now, Ms. Lea asked you the question, and it had to do with this designation D, the demand program.  And as I understand it, broadly speaking, a demand program is one in which you can't really -- these are unforeseen expenses; they may arise as a result of a number of causes over the course of a year; is that fair?
     MR. CARLTON:  They're uncontrolled, yes.
     MR. WARREN:  They are uncontrolled.  And we would distinguish those from the other category of expenses, which are controlled and therefore can be planned; is that fair?
     MR. CARLTON:  They're planned, correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Now, with respect to, first of all, the planned numbers, the latter category, when the -- when I look through or my client looks through all of the OM&A data on planned expenses for the bridge year, 2005, the estimates, can we take it that the numbers that are in the evidence are reasonably accurate as we sit here today or should they be updated?
     MR. CARLTON:  I believe the numbers are relatively accurate.
     MR. WARREN:  Now, as we sit here today with respect to the unplanned or demand category, are there updates that we should be or can be provided with and I suppose should be provided with to get a better sense of what these numbers look like today as opposed to when this evidence was prepared?
     MR. CARLTON:  At this point, on a specific program and project basis, we don't have that evidence yet.  We're just going through a year-end.  I am aware, as of last evening, that overall our OM&A costs for distribution were essentially as we forecast.
     MR. WARREN:  Are you able to identify at this stage, Panel, any material differences from the numbers that appear in the evidence, in this demand program category?  And if so, could you undertake to provide the Board with material differences?  And perhaps I could say, picking a number out of the air, a 5 percent difference in what the numbers are.
     MR. CARLTON:  I don't have that information available.  I'm – as I sit here, I'm not exactly sure how soon it will be available.  We could undertake to find out when it would be available.  I would suggest, though, that 5 percent materiality in many cases may be pretty small.
     MR. WARREN:  Too low?  And what would you suggest as a fair standard of materiality by which you would measure this?
     MR. CARLTON:  I'd probably put it on a dollar value, because we do have a number of programs and projects.  I like to think of $5 million personally.  That may be more readily available, those types of materialities, than breaking it down.  We have thousands of programs and projects that we look at on a monthly basis.
     MR. WARREN:  I wonder, Madam Chair, if I can get an undertaking from my friend to determine whether or not -- there are a number of qualifications -- whether or not it can be done, whether or not we can review the data as exists now to determine whether there are material differences in the unplanned or demand program estimates for 2005 from what appears in the evidence.
     MR. ROGERS:  I'll undertake to find out what might be available.  I know there are some problems because a lot of this data isn't available yet.  But let me check and see whether we can help him.  I'll certainly report back as to whether we can do that, and if not, why not.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MS. LEA:  J2.4, a report on the material differences in the 2005 unplanned or demand numbers.


MS. NOWINA:  Report on the availability of the information or -- you're going to report first on whether or not it's available? 


MR. ROGERS:  I think that's all I can really do is report on whether or not it's available.  But of course if I find out it's available, I'll go beyond that.  At the moment, all I can undertake to do is to see whether those might be available.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  


UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  A REPORT ON THE MATERIAL 

DIFFERENCES IN THE 2005 UNPLANNED OR DEMAND NUMBERS, WHETHER OR NOT THE INFORMATION IS AVAILABLE.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, just by way of broad overview, my friend Ms. Lea has dealt with specific numbers in the OM&A and capital expenditure categories, and I'm going to step back from that and approach these topics at a more general level.  And let me explain, since there's

no mystery to what I want to get, let me explain what my concerns is, which provides a kind of framework for my question.  And my concern or curiosity, if you wish, is how is it that we, as we sit in the room, should assess the reasonableness or prudence of your forecast expenditures.  I'm looking for the criteria that we should use to do

that. 


And let me begin first with background.  Am I correct, Panel, that with respect to both OM&A and capital expenditures, as they appear in the evidence from 2002 on, that there has been no contested hearing before the

Board in which those numbers have been examined?  Am I correct in that? 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, let me pause -- I'm going to posit for your response four possible ways in which the Board and the interveners might assess the reasonableness or prudence of these forecasts.  And can I suggest that one way we might do that would be a year-over-year comparison

of costs, starting from, for example, from a base year in

which the Board had made a determination that costs were reasonable.  And the analog I'm thinking of here is what we do collectively in the gas cases.  Year over year, we have typically contested hearings for the two major LDCs, in which we examine forecast revenues and expenditures, the Board makes an assessment of reasonableness and prudence and issues a decision.


So would you agree with me that one way of testing or of assessing forecast costs in a year would be through that process and that comparison?  Do you agree with that? 


MR. CARLTON:  That may be one way.  I'm not sure it would be appropriate for this case.


MR. WARREN:  Well, that was my next question.  We're effectively precluded from doing that, because, as we've agreed, there hasn't been a contested proceeding in which these numbers have been assessed, so we can't really do that in this case.  Is that fair? 


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Let me suggest, then, that a second way in which we might assess prudence would be through the use of external measures or benchmarks.  That's one way of looking at these.  Is that fair?


MR. CARLTON:  Essentially.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, you have responded to Board Staff interrogatory -- it's number 32, Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 32.  I'm not sure, Panel, that you need to turn it up.  Just -- we'll get my general summary of it.  But as I understand it, Hydro One's approach to the use of external benchmarks is its circumstances individually and

collectively are such that it's very difficult for you to get fair comparables, and so benchmarking is, at best, an uncertain or risky proposition for Hydro One.  Is that fair?


MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I know that we will get another Panel that will deal specifically with the energy contract, but can we agree that one of the terms of the energy contract is that on a periodic basis the rates and the costs within the energy contract will be benchmarked

against readily available data on the market-place?  Do

you understand that to be the case? 


MR. CARLTON:  That's my understanding.


MR. WARREN:  And as I go through the evidence, I see that it includes a benchmark review by PA Consulting, I think it is, and if I recollect, the results of that benchmark review is that the contract does, using available information -- that it is reasonable in comparison with what's available on the market.  Do you agree with that?


MR. CARLTON:  I believe that's the result.


MR. WARREN:  And can I conclude -- and if you can't answer this question, I understand.  Can I conclude that Hydro One insisted on the presence of that benchmarking requirement in order to ensure that it was getting the lowest available cost in the market-place?  Is that

fair?


MR. CARLTON:  I wasn't involved in those negotiations.


MR. WARREN:  Fair enough.  Now, the other place in which I find a reference to benchmarking evidence is in your asset condition assessment evidence, which is Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1.  And again, I don't think you need to turn it up, but am I correct in understanding that part of that evidence is an external or, what, a summary of an external review by Acres about your asset condition assessment program?  Is that fair?


MR. JUHN:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And I take it that one of the reasons that you've included the Acres evidence is as a kind of external reference point that confirms that the asset condition program is a good one; is that fair? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.


MR. WARREN:  And can we agree that one of the considerations which Acres used was an external benchmark analysis?  It looked at utilities in comparable circumstances; is that fair?  I'm looking, Panel, at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, at page 17 of 70.  We have the asset condition assessment study summary report of distribution assets by Acres International.  And my specific point of reference is that within that,

you'll see, it's separately paginated, but at page 12 of 51 it would appear, Panel, to summarize it quickly, that what Hydro One wanted from Acres was, among other things, item 2, to review the asset condition assessment process employed by Hydro One Distribution to measure the condition of the assets and benchmark these processes against those

employed by other utilities around the world.


Am I reading it correctly that you asked Acres to do that? 


MR. JUHN:  We asked them to provide comparisons, and “benchmarking” is the term that's used.  In interrogatory H1, 130, we provided -- that question came up, and our response was that the benchmarking exercise has been conducted informally.  So Acres did contact other utilities that are listed in the report and obtained information, comparative information, from our practices to the other utilities’ practices.


MR. WARREN:  And it was a favourable response in terms of supporting the quality of your asset condition assessment program; is that fair? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, with apologies for being both old and slightly cynical, Panel, we have two instances within the evidence in which Hydro One has relied on external reference points or benchmark evidence which supports its point of view, and we don't have any, but with

respect to other categories of activities, you say we can't do it because we're so different. 


Am I right in assuming that there has been a selective use of benchmarking data by Hydro One? 


MR. CARLTON:  No, I don't think so.  I think what you're references in parts of the Acres study is looking at our processes and practices.  I think we have indicated that we do deal with other utilities and look at best practices and processes and we do do a comparison of the things.  We can learn from those processes and practices,

and we do try to find out that information.  I think what we have said is when you use individual metrics, we haven't found the use of metrics useful.


MR. WARREN:  Are there any instances with respect to the data produced for 2006 in which you've looked formally or informally at comparables for other utilities and the results have not been as favourable?
     MR. CARLTON:  I'm not aware of any.
     MR. WARREN:  Now, just on this point, one of the issues that my friend Ms. Lea looked at this morning in some detail was the vegetation management, which is a substantial budget item in your O&M budget; agreed?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, vegetation management, I take it, would be a -- or am I right in assuming that it's particularly important when you've got service across long distances that are uninhabited or substantially uninhabited, as you have in the province of Ontario?  Is that fair?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MR. WARREN:  And would I not be right that there are other utilities in North America, British Columbia or Wisconsin or the province of Quebec which would have similar circumstances, long distances or sparsely-populated areas that are heavily vegetated?  Is that a reasonable assumption on my part?
     MR. CARLTON:  There would be other utilities like that, yes.
     MR. WARREN:  And I'm wondering, sir, if you couldn't isolate those utilities and their vegetation management program and provide a comparison, using whatever metrics you want, with their experience and that of Hydro One.  Would that not be possible to do?
     MR. CARLTON:  Excuse me for just a second.
     MR. WARREN:  Sure.
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. CARLTON:  Sorry.  Yes, over the years we have looked at some of those utilities, but once again it's the term of practices, for instance, the cycle time, how they do work, whether it's mechanical or brush-cutting or application of herbicide.  So we have looked at our practices and tried to learn from it on that basis.  We haven't looked at metrics, like dollars per kilometre.
     MR. WARREN:  Is it the case that you tried to look at those metrics and rejected them as being inappropriate or you just haven't looked at them?
     MR. CARLTON:  We have looked at comparisons of metrics, and they haven't been appropriate comparisons.
     MR. WARREN:  Let me turn, then, to a third possible measure that we might use for the assessment of the reasonableness or prudence of your cost, and that is what I might term internal criteria or internal controls.  And let me use, as an example of this, your asset condition or ACA program.
     And am I right in understanding that the asset condition assessment program is an internal management program that allows you to identify those assets that require work or expenditures and that that data is then subject to your prioritization process?  Is that correct?
     MR. CARLTON:  Correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Now, one of the results of those, let's take a look at C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 28.  And again, I'm going to deal with vegetation management.
     MR. THOMPSON:  What page was that again?
     MR. WARREN:  Do you have that, Panel?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MR. WARREN:  I should also ask if you could turn up interrogatory number 11, Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 11.  Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 11.  Sorry.  The first one is Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 28, table 9.
     Now, what we have on table 9 is we have -- let's take the figure $60.1 million in the test year for line-clearing.  In the interrogatory imposed by my client, you were asked to break down the costs and to provide a business case for it, and your answer was that you do not break down the cost and that you do not prepare business cases for ongoing routine maintenance programs.
     My question is:  When the Board looks at this number $60.1 million -- let me step back.  Am I right, Panel, that your asset condition assessment process says that money needs to be spent on line-clearing and that you then go to the prioritization process; as a result of all this, you come up with the figure of $60.1 million?  Is that roughly how it works?
     MR. PENSTONE:  The prioritization process includes different levels of potential expenditures for vegetation management and essentially what risks you would mitigate by spending more or less money.  So there's alternatives as part of that, assessed as part of the prioritization process.
     MR. WARREN:  If you look at the text, the second paragraph of your answer to interrogatory number 11, it says, second-last sentence:  

“Studies are undertaken to provide the basis for decisions concerning accomplishment levels needed to meet the needs and the assets as well as costs to complete the work."

     Do I take it that we don't have those studies before us in the evidence anywhere?  Is that fair?
     MR. JUHN:  Correct.  There isn't an additional study other than the Acres report that's submitted, and the Acres report does provide information on the condition of our assets and also the expected work that has to take place over a certain period of time.
     MR. WARREN:  I didn't quite hear.  You said there are no additional studies.
     MR. JUHN:  Other than the Acres report.
     MR. WARREN:  But broadly speaking, other than the line-clearing budget which is the subject of that interrogatory, are there studies which are undertaken outside of the Acres report to provide the basis for decisions concerning accomplishment levels, et cetera, et cetera?  Are there studies?
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, there are.
     MR. WARREN:  And I take it that those -- would those be studies with respect to each of your O&M expenditure categories or just some of them or how many?
     MR. JUHN:  The more -- the higher cost ones, as vegetation management, a study has been conducted.  Others are in internally --internal studies that are done at the local level by Hydro One staff in preparation of the potential work programs.  So they're not formal studies.
     MR. WARREN:  You say studies are undertaken for the higher budget items like vegetation management.  What are the other high budget items for which studies have been undertaken?
     MR. JUHN:  Late 1990 we undertook a study on wood poles.  The vegetation management was, I believe, 2003.
     MR. WARREN:  If I could just get you to pause there.  There's a study on vegetation management other than Acres; is that right?
     MR. JUHN:  That is correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  Go ahead.
     MR. JUHN:  Those are the only ones that I recall.
     MR. WARREN:  My question, then, is:  Neither of those two studies, the ones you've referred to, are in evidence; is that right?
     MR. JUHN:  That is correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, let's just take a look at the line-clearing number on table 9 of $60.1 million.  On what basis do you believe the Board should decide that this is a reasonable number, as opposed to 50 million or 70 million?  What criteria should the Board use to make the decision that that's a reasonable number? 


MR. JUHN:  If I can direct you to interrogatory H1-42.


MR. WARREN:  Please.


MR. JUHN:  We've identified on page 2 the reliability expectation, the projected reliability with regard to the line-clearing cycles.  And our studies, and this was the one -- this chart is extracted from the 2003 study.  This particular study indicates that we're on the upper reaches of a sustainable vegetation management program.  In fact, we're at the edge of the cliff, from our perspective.  And unless we make some inroads, I think we're going to have significant problems down the road.


MR. WARREN:  Can that study be filed?  Unless it's in the evidence.  I'm not aware of it, but ...


MR. ROGERS:  You can find it? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Could I have a number for the study or some way to reference it? 


MR. ROGERS:  What's it called? 


MR. JUHN:  It was completed by Mr. Griffiths, S.T. Griffiths, Environmental Consultants Incorporated.


MS. LEA:  And it was on vegetating management? 


MR. JUHN:  That is correct.


MS. LEA:  J2.5, produce the Griffiths -- Griffith? 


MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.



MS. LEA:  Griffiths study on vegetation management. 


UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  PRODUCE THE GRIFFITH STUDY ON


VEGETATION MANAGEMENT.


MR. WARREN:  And since you won't be here, Panel, when the Griffiths study makes its way through the door, can I just ask you this question:  Am I right in understanding that the Griffiths study is the one that supports a figure of $60 million for vegetation? 


MR. JUHN:  The Griffiths study supports that in terms of our cycle, that we should be reducing that cycle, and it doesn't specifically point to $60 million, but it definitely directionally points us in doing more vegetation management.


MR. WARREN:  You need to do more vegetation management, and then you internally, according to your condition assessment process, come up with the number $60 million; is that right?  Is that the way it works?


MR. JUHN:  The cycle turns into, yes, kilometres, and then our field staff estimates the work, specifically in the particular locations, and that's how we derive at the $60 million.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the last criterion I'm going to posit for you, the way of assessing the prudence of your expenditures, is a comparison of your budgeted expenditures to what your actual expenditures are.  Would you agree that that's one possible way of looking at the prudence of your expenditures? 


MR. CARLTON:  I don't see that, no.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  It certainly would be a measure of the effectiveness of the accuracy of your forecasting and a measure of your management discipline and control; is that fair? 


MR. CARLTON:  Well, it may be.  There may be other factors as well.  If something happens during the year where although we do an annual prioritization process, if something happens during the year and we want to redirect funds because we think it's better spent somewhere else, we will do that as well.


MR. WARREN:  Let me turn up -- get some specifics on this.  If you turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2.  This is the table that my friend Ms. Lea began with you on this morning.  And if you could also turn up my client's interrogatory number 6, which, for the record, is Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 6. 


MR. CARLTON:  Page 9, 6.


MR. WARREN:  The interrogatory asked you to do -- first of all, let me understand.  Table 1 reflects for 2002, 2003, 2004 actuals, for 2005 it's an estimate, 2006 it's a forecast; correct, Panel? 


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  And what interrogatory number 6 asked you to do was, for those figures, to provide the budgets that were comparable in each of the years in each of those categories.  And the answer didn't give us that.  And can I ask for an undertaking for you to reproduce table 1 showing for each of those years, in each of those categories what the comparable budget numbers were as opposed to the actuals and the estimates?  Can that be done? 


MR. CARLTON:  The interrogatory did respond on a total basis, actual versus planned.


MR. WARREN:  I'm looking for the -- can you give me an undertaking?  Can you give it for each of these specific items?  Can that be done? 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes, it can be done.  I'm not sure how difficult it would be to go back in history and reproduce the budgets for each one of those line items.


MR. WARREN:  Can I get an undertaking to again send my friend to the salt mines to see what he can find and report back to us.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I'll undertake to make some inquiries and see what's involved here.  The company has changed its organization over that period of time.  It might be difficult.  But let me make inquiries, and I'll report to the Board as soon as I can.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Ms. Lea.


MR. ROGERS:  2003 to 2004 I understand is what you're looking for.


MR. WARREN:  2005 as well, because there would be budgets.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay. 


MS. LEA:  J2.6, please. 


UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  REPRODUCE TABLE 1 SHOWING FOR 


EACH OF THOSE YEARS, IN EACH OF THOSE CATEGORIES WHAT 


THE COMPARABLE BUDGET NUMBERS WERE AS OPPOSED TO THE 


ACTUALS AND THE ESTIMATES.


MS. NOWINA:  That's budget numbers for years 2002 to 2005; is that correct? 


MR. WARREN:  Two brief questions, one of which you may be able to dispose of quickly, Panel.  Am I right in assuming that questions with respect to the regulatory affairs budget are asked of the next Panel?


MR. CARLTON:  It would be Panel 4.


MR. WARREN:  Panel 4, okay.


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Finally, just a very broad question and a high level of generality with respect to the capital budget.  My friend, Ms. Lea, asked you a number of questions about specific items.  And how is it that Hydro One decides what an appropriate overall capital budget would be?  Is it the addition of items from the bottom up or do you start with a capital budget that you think is a reasonable one? 


MR. CARLTON:  It really is a bottom-up approach on what the assets need, what we believe is necessary.  But once again, the capital items will go through a prioritization process.  But we do look at the longer-term implications on the rate basis.


MR. WARREN:  And is there what I might describe as a kind of choke factor where you say, Yikes, this is too high; this is unacceptable? 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes, I'm sure there would be.


MR. WARREN:  But it's somebody else higher up the food-chain that does the choking; is that right? 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  We will now break for lunch, and we will return at 1:45. 

            --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:35 p.m.

       --- On resuming at 1:50 p.m.
     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Did any preliminary matters come up during the break?

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'm in a position to file four off the five undertakings from yesterday and I've given copies to my friend.  This would be Exhibit J, tab 1, schedules 1, 2, 3, and 4.  We stapled them together for convenience.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.
     MR. ROGERS:  While we're dealing with preliminary matters, maybe this would be a convenient time to do this.  My friend Mr. Shepherd brought to my attention that an interrogatory which he had sent which he intends to use today, by mistake in the filed evidence from my client -- or I guess the interrogatory answer from my client mistakenly attached the wrong exhibit to the answer.  I believe the answer is correct, that is to say, it verifies the data that Mr. Shepherd gave to Hydro One, but unfortunately the wrong schedule was attached to the answer.  So we have copied the correct exhibit and attached it to the interrogatory answer.  And I'm in a position to provide copies to people now, if you like.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  It appears that that's what we have in front of us.
     MR. ROGERS:  It's already got an exhibit number, Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 2.  I think what we'll do is file a corrected copy in the correct colour in the fullness of time.
     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  Was that all, Mr. Rogers?
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Lea or Ms. Campbell, do you have any preliminary matters?
     MS. CAMPBELL:  No, thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stephenson.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. STEPHENSON:
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     Panel, my name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers Union.  Let me start on the issue of service quality and the linkage between service quality performance, on the one hand, and your work program in terms of capital and OM&A, on the other hand.  As I understood the evidence from this morning, you made it clear that subject to some specific exceptions which I’m going to explore with you, it's very difficult to establish a direct linkage between the service quality performance in a particular year and, on the one hand, and the level of spending in the work program on the other.  Is that fair?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, I did understand, however, that one exception to that is that on the customer satisfaction side of the service quality metrics there may well be a more direct linkage in the sense that you can see the results of dollars spent in a particular year in customer responses in that year; fair?
     MR. CARLTON:  There would be some examples like that, yes.  Underground cable locates, for instance.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Leaving that aside.  And I do understand and accept that if I can characterize the evidence about this relationship, if I can call it that, a micro -- at a micro level, it's very difficult to track a linkage.  That is, a dollar spent in a particular year and its impact on a particular metric in that or a following year.  Okay.  But isn't it also fair to say that there is a very clear linkage between those two things at a macro level, that over time and over the system as a whole, these two issues are in fact very directly linked?  Isn't that fair to say?
     MR. PENSTONE:  We have found that we have improved service quality by increasing our work programs over the course of the last three or four years.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But -- and that would indicate -- there may be an attendant lag period involved, but there is a correlation at some level; fair?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And certainly, let me use an extreme example, that if you spent -- whatever you figured was your optimal level of spending, if you spent, say, 20 percent less than that year over year for ten years, you would fully expect at the end of the ten years that your -- all of the metrics or virtually all of the metrics would be worse than they are today; fair?
     MR. PENSTONE:  We know the minimum expenditures below which performance would suffer.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And let's assume you spent 20 percent less than that for ten years.  I take it there is no doubt in your mind that at the end of the ten-year period, the metrics would all be negative from their current position; fair?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And moreover, let's assume that occurred -- at that point in time, ten years hence, it would take an extended period of time of re-elevated expenditures to positively affect those service-quality metrics; fair?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Fair.  But depending on the program, some more than others.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But what I'm getting at is that these things don't turn on a dime necessarily.  This is -- I draw the analogy of an aircraft carrier.  It takes a lot to get an aircraft carrier going in a particular direction, but once it's going in that direction, it takes a lot to move it one way or the other.  And your system is sort of like that, isn't it?  Once it's -- if it's headed downhill you've got to do a lot to push it back uphill; correct?
     MR. PENSTONE:  I'm reminded of the old saying of “pay me now or pay me later.”
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And in fact, you may well be paying a lot more hence, correct, to get you back to where you would have been if you had paid now, so to speak?
     MR. PENSTONE:  We have direct evidence of that for particular programs, yes.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And in part that's because planned work is – you get more bang for your buck on planned work than you do on forced outage work; correct?
     MR. PENSTONE:  It’s certainly cheaper.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  That's what I mean.  And now, so is it fair to say that there's a cumulative impact in terms of your performance against the metrics based upon not only your work program in the current year but also your work program in the prior year and the year before that and so forth?  Correct?
     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And also not only that your work in the current year, but also next year and the year following that; correct?  This is all about stewardship of these assets?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  There are initiatives that we've undertaken that are designed -- we take a long-term view in terms of our asset stewardship, to use your term.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And in fact, if you treat Hydro One as a relatively new company, you inherited an enormous bundle of assets and it's your task to steward those assets, in effect indefinitely; correct?  I mean, you are going to have a distribution system for as long as we can foresee; correct?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And they will be retired and replaced over time, but that's all part of your stewardship program; correct?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  You're in this for the long gain?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, let me just touch on another area about service quality, and then I'm going to circle back to where I just was.  One of the issues that you've raised, in particular in connection to the Sudbury issue, was the fact that you gather and analyze your reliability data on a province-wide basis; correct?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  Certainly to report for the SAIDI and SAISI and CAIDI measures, as we're required to do, yes, we look at a provincial view.  But we also look at, in order to plan our investments, specific areas where reliability could be improved.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  I was just about to get to that.  So that it may well be that within a particular -- and I don't mean this in terms of region or district or geographic area -- you will experience elevated levels of problems, to use that term, broadly speaking, and that will be a signal to you that you will need to be looking at doing reinforcements or whatever within that area.


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct, but we also prefer to identify that before the problems occur.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.


MR. PENSTONE:  Part of the asset condition assessment.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  And you also said you don't track customer complaints, I think.  This was again in the context of Sudbury on a regional basis or a geographic basis.  Did I understand that correctly? 


MR. PENSTONE:  I don't know that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.


MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, I guess my question is:  Wouldn't there be some useful intelligence to be gained if you in fact did do that? 


MR. GEE:  I believe the intelligence that you're talking about actually comes from -- let me step back.  The way we track the complaints is by a type of process or activity, whether they have a concern with new connections or whether they have a concern with outages.  So we do track that and use that as part of our planning process.  The local information, the local knowledge, which I believe you're hinting at, actually comes from field staff.  We have people who work in those centres, we have people who have relationships with communities, local leaders, large-sized customers.  We have people who live in that community.  And our processes do use the local knowledge and the people's input into the processes in the manner that you're referring to.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And presumably that information feeds up the system and becomes part of your prioritization considerations.


MR. GEE:  Absolutely.


MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Just in terms of tracking on the SAISI and SAIDI and that sort of data, obviously in your system you've got areas that are very rural and then you've got other areas which are, shall I say, more urban, at least on a relative basis are more urban, areas which are more dense and areas which are less dense.  Have you considered the wisdom of in fact tracking and reporting, in addition to what you're doing now, your reliability performance on, you know, essentially the most -- divide your system into two halves, one being more

dense and the other being less dense and on the two -- to demonstrate your relative performance within those two areas?


MR. CARLTON:  Yes, we've started to do just that, in fact.  We have started to look at our system to see:  Could we develop pockets of customers who could be considered of an urban character and see how they're performing versus those who would be rural.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And this may be self-evident, but the problem with doing it on a blanket basis is that it may tend to conceal distinctions which may be very relevant to your consideration?


MR. CARLTON:  That may be true on what we report at the system level metric.  However, in the planning process, we do look at individual feeder comparatives, we look at what equipment is failing, all those types of reasons for failures, and that does go into the process by geography,

by equipment type and those types of things.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me move to the issue.  You talked about how there's a prioritization process undertaken in developing your work program both in any given year and over time.  Do you recall that being discussed this morning?  And I want to talk -- let me tell you where I'm

going, and I want to do a little review of some history with you and see if I can get you to agree with me.


I'm going to suggest to you that the issue of the funding of the maintenance of the system -- if I can take it you're sustaining OM&A and you're sustaining capital, to use your language.  Frankly, notwithstanding the best efforts, I'm sure, of everybody on this Panel -- may not have been given the highest priority by Hydro One and its predecessor, over, say, the last 15 years.  I'm going to ask -- I don't know how many of you have been around for at least this period, but the bottom line is Hydro One and its predecessor has been through a series of tumultuous crises over the last few years.  I'm going to take you to 1994.  In 1994 I'm sure some of you were at the corporation; correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And there was a massive downsizing of the corporation imposed by the then-chairman, Morris Strong.  You recall that?


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the company was more or less cut by at least a third.  Do you recall that? 


MR. PENSTONE:  I don't recall the exact number.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But it was significant.  And at that point in time, there was, needless to say, a focusing on investment in the distribution infrastructure may not have been the first priority at that point in time; fair? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Ontario Hydro at the time had a large number of issues.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  In 1995 there was a rate freeze imposed by the Harris government.  Do you recall that? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I take it that that caused Ontario Hydro to reassess its priorities at that point in time; correct? 


MR. PENSTONE:  In this particular case -- I can only assume so, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And is it fair to say that distribution system infrastructure may not have been the highest priority of the corporation at that point in time? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Then there was a -- in the late 1990s, the whole nuclear power plant shut-down.  And do you recall that happened? 


MR. PENSTONE:  This is quite a memory lane.  Yes. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that was a -- that was the highest priority of the corporation at that point in time; correct? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Again, I can't speak for the old Ontario Hydro and its management, but certainly considering the importance of the nuclear program to Ontario Hydro, it wouldn't surprise me.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stephenson, this is leading somewhere, is it? 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, it sure is.  Then there was industry restructuring, and that was the most important priority of the corporation at that point in time, the division of the companies, getting ready for market opening.  Fair enough? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Again, I can't comment on what the priorities were at that particular time, but certainly that was the direction that the company was going.


MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Hydro One, or it was the then-Ontario Hydro Services Company, shows up at the Ontario Energy Board in 1998 for its original rates.  Were any of you involved in that process?  


Okay.  You can tell me whether or not you're familiar with this.  This will be a matter of the record for the Board, but you may well be familiar with it.  At that point in time, Ontario Hydro Services Company sought major increases in its sustaining OM&A and sustaining capital on the basis of historic underfunding.  Are you familiar with that?  Anybody here answer?  No.  Okay.


MR. PENSTONE:  I don't know.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I can tell you - and this will be in the Board's record - that at the time the Board rejected that on the basis that the evidentiary support for the request was inadequate.  And the Board told the then-Ontario Hydro Services Company to go out and do a comprehensive asset assessment.  And they've done that; correct?  You got an asset condition assessment that you've spent enormous resources on; correct? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, the next time the then-Hydro One shows up at the Board is in 2000, and in 2000, were any of you involved in that application in any respect? 


MR. PENSTONE:  No.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  This will again be a matter for the Board.  Let me ask if you have any knowledge of these matters.  At that point in time, there was enormous pushback from the provincial government regarding LDC rates across the province.  You may recall that, that there

was limits put on LDCs in terms of the rate increases they were able to get.  Do you recall that issue in 2000? 


MR. CARLTON:  I vaguely recall that, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And one of the things that Ontario Hydro -- or, sorry, Hydro One did at that point in time was that it voluntarily reduced its revenue requirement in order to mitigate the impact of rate increases that it was otherwise going to be obtaining, and that involved a voluntary deferral of sustaining activities on its distribution infrastructure.  Were any of you familiar with that?
     MR. CARLTON:  That sounds familiar, yes.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And in fact, at that time, as a result of an agreement at the Board, the company filed with the Board a statement which set out in detail the nature of the work that was being deferred, when it said the deferred work was going to be completed, and the impact of those deferrals.  Are you familiar with that?
     MR. CARLTON:  Vaguely I have some recollection.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stephenson, I'd be more comfortable if you got to the part of your cross where you're asking the witnesses questions, rather than telling them the history.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  I'm asking them if they are familiar with the history, and they have some familiarity, it seems to me, and some they don't have.  Fair enough.
     Is it fair to say that since 2000 there has been ongoing pressure from Hydro One to either -- to mitigate any rate increases or expenditure increases within the company?  You haven't been back for rates, so you haven't had a rate increase.
     MR. CARLTON:  I haven't been that familiar enough with the process to answer yes or no.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.
     MR. JUHN:  I've been involved to some extent in the investment planning process, and there is always that pressure between the financial and the needs of the assets and the requirement to justify those needs and present evidence in terms of that we do have to do the work and that it's to the benefit of Hydro One and our customers.  And that has always been there, and we've been quite successful in increasing our programs over the years based on asset condition assessment and such.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And that is one of the means by which you have achieved certain efficiencies, is that correct, because the asset condition assessment has given you a road-map to implementing your work program; is that fair?
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, that's fair.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And we're going to explore this with a later panel, but you've also achieved efficiencies from other means so that the bottom line is you're able to get more of the work done for the same dollars; is that fair?
     MR. CARLTON:  Correct.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, in terms of -- what I'm going to suggest to you is that as a result of -- your program here that you are proposing to fund through this application, your work program, would you agree that it is really the minimum that you are comfortable in supporting?  If you came here trying to justify a lesser program, wouldn't you agree that that program is heading this ship in the wrong direction from a reliability and stewardship perspective?
     MR. PENSTONE:  This program is designed to ensure the long-term viability of Hydro One's assets and it's designed to ensure that we achieve the objectives and targets that have been set for us by our senior management.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Isn't a consequence -- let's assume that the Board suggests that -- I'm going to focus on sustaining for the purposes of these questions that they're not satisfied with your proposal and that they're only going to approve, let's say, 20 percent less.  From your perspective, would you agree with me that the consequence of that will be the very issue that you raised with me at the beginning, that you can pay me now or you can pay me later, that that cost will simply be borne later down the road by other ratepayers?
     MR. PENSTONE:  There would be impacts.  The reduced budgets would require us to go back and revisit the proposed programs and cut programs.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And one of the reasons, I'm going to suggest to you, one of the dangers that you have to take into account is it's easy to cut these programs because if you spend $5 million less this year, it may not show up in the statistics for next year.  In fact, it probably won't; right?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Well, experience has shown us that the time constants or the time between actions being taken and results being measured can be extended.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And by the same token, spending $5 million more this year won't necessarily give you a measurable improvement next year.  It might, but it won't necessarily; fair?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's a caution that needs to be borne in mind, isn't it, in terms of determining what is an optimal level of activity and expenditure in these areas, that it is the long game and that you can't be driven by short-term metrics?  Fair?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  We believe this is the right level of funding.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And in your -- I'm just going to finish with this.  In your materials there are at least two examples, in my submission, of a situation where there is a recognition within the company about the inadequacy of past levels of activity.  The first one is on the vegetation management side.  You'd agree with me that you have taken a good, hard look at that and you have made a decision that your level of activity in the past was just simply inadequate and not sustainable; fair?
     MR. JUHN:  Yes.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Secondly, on your pole replacement program, you have made a determination that your past level of activity was inadequate and not sustainable; fair?
     MR. JUHN:  It depends how far you go with the past term.  Prior to about 2001, that's correct.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And for sure -- I mean, you've given evidence in your material about the Acres study, and I think that the number on the wood pole replacement was there were 66,000 poles which were classified by them in either poor or very poor condition; correct?
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  And even under your current program, which increases the speed of replacement, you're only targeting to replace 10,000 poles a year at maximum; correct?
     MR. JUHN:  The 2006 plan includes 6,000 poles, ramping up to what we anticipate, depending on the test results, 10,000 by 2010.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And in fact by 2010, there will be more poles that aren't presently considered to be poor or very poor that will have become poor or very poor; correct?
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, in all likelihood, some will.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  And so the bottom line is:  Even under that program, you're not going to be -- get rid of -- you're not going to reduce your cohort of poor or very poor poles down to a small number anytime soon?
     MR. JUHN:  The number of poles you have that are sort of in the poor to very poor category in the system will depend on the rate of your testing program and the removal.  We're increasing our testing program, our assessment program.  As such, we're going to make inroads on that, but that is sort of the norm in the industry, that you're going to have some substandard poles in the system.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But a determination has been made that the current level is not appropriate?  That's why you're increasing this program?
     MR. JUHN:  The current level is appropriate for -- based on the testing results we are experiencing, but our statistical analysis is telling us that there is going to be an increase in replacements, yes.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  And the bottom -- I take it that – I mean, these poles being poor or very poor, I mean, you don't replace them just for the fun of it.  There's a nexus between the condition of these things and reliability for customers on the ground? 


MR. JUHN:  That is one criteria.  There is specific end-of-life criteria for poles that we establish and that we follow and that meets the current CSA standard.  That basically forms the end of life.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I understand that, but even that end of life, the reason that you have an end-of-life measure, whoever creates it, is because once you've got there, there's an assessment made that it's either, A, too hazardous or affects life and safety or reliability in some adverse way; fair? 

        MR. JUHN:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  


Mr. DeVellis. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:


MR. DeVELLIS:  I just want to pick up on the issue of the service quality indicators, in particular, customer satisfaction.  Is there some method to track, say, customer satisfaction in reference to the price that the customer paid for electricity distribution? 


MR. GEE:  In our customer satisfaction surveys, one of the outcomes are a number of items which are important to customers and drive satisfaction.  There's a number of those.  And with that information, that helps you design and respond to improving customer satisfaction.  And yes, price is one of the factors.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Are you using surveys in evidence?


MR. GEE:  No, they're not.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Would we be able to get a copy? 


MR. GEE:  I don't believe the surveys are something that's readily easy to put into evidence.  We tend to get back results and surveys and presentations and some analysis.  So I don't think it will be meaningful

in the context that you're asking.  But the information does contribute to our planning process.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, do you also track customer satisfaction via complaint calls? 


MR. GEE:  We do track the numbers and types of customer complaints we get, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And does that work into your index? 


MR. GEE:  Yes, I would say so.  I don't think it's a formal issue.  Those tend to be more often more process issues.  The customer had a problem with the interaction with us.  And thus, I think it's us responding and trying to make continuous improvement on processes and how we interact with customers.  I say the input into the planning process and improvement is more the overall customer satisfaction numbers we have.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But you'll agree with me, though, that just tracking customer satisfaction without reference to the price they pay is not really a valid exercise? 


MR. GEE:  The customer's view of the value of the service offering has many multifaceted aspects, one of which is price.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm going to move on.  I just need a clarification on a question of the pension issue and its relation to the overall OM&A budget.  And if you could flip back to the table at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2. 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, I thought I heard you say this morning that, in answer to a question from Ms. Lea, that the increase in the pension payments is reflected in the shared services and other OM&A budget? 


MR. CARLTON:  The year-over-year change is evident in shared services and other OM&A.  The way we accounted for the pension is, although the pension is built into our labour costs because it was starting to be incurred, we put a credit for the amount of pension into other OM&A.  And so in 2004 and 2005, there would be a credit for the pension.  That disappears in 2006, and therefore, you see the year-over-year change.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Does that mean that the other items listed there, stating development operations, don't have a pension amount embedded in their budgets?


MR. CARLTON:  They do have a pension amount embedded in their budget, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  They do.  In addition to the shared services and other --


MR. CARLTON:  No.  In the shared services and other OM&A, there is a credit amount in 2004 and 2005, because what we've done is the pension costs are included in labour, so they get charged to the sustainment development and operations program.  However, with other OM&A, we credited out those pension costs and sent it to a deferral account.  So in shared services and other OM&A, you'll see a credit amount in 2004 of -- I think it's about $33 million, and in 2005 a credited amount of about $38 million.  In 2006, there's nothing there.  So there's a year-over-year -- I think the question was a year-over-year-type question.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So the elimination of the credit, then, is really to catch up from previous years? 


MR. CARLTON:  It's to recognize in 2006 the full cost of pension.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Pension costs from previous years.


MR. CARLTON:  It's the pension cost for that one year, for 2006 only.


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you could turn to the table 4 at Exhibit C2 -- sorry, C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 10.  Now, I know Ms. Lea also asked about this table, but I don't think you were asked about the increase from 2002 to 2003 for the trouble calls line item.


MR. CARLTON:  No, we weren't.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And there's an increase there from 43.9 million to 51.7 million from 2002 to 2003.


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's a 28.9 percent increase? 


MR. CARLTON:  Okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And if you look at Board Staff IR No. 36, that's Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 36.


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You'll see there the number of trouble calls actually decreases from 52,000 in 2002 to 51,700 in 2003. 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So can you explain the increase, the 29 percent increase in the budget, then?


MR. CARLTON:  I'll try.  In 2002, we were under a different business model.  In 2002, we had -- the current Hydro One Networks was made up of two subsidiaries: Hydro One Networks services and Hydro One Networks, where Hydro One Networks was primarily the asset management function and Network services was primarily the work execution function.  


Within that model, we had two sets of financial books.  Network services had their own; Networks had their own.  In the preparation of this filing, what we tried to do is to merge network services with our 2003 to 2006 networks books, and we identified a number of anomalies within that year, on a specific program, confident that the bottom line distribution costs were right.  But when we did some of the analysis line-by-line of all our work and projects, there was some accounting issues back then which were likely to do with the Network services subsidiary and how they managed the financials.  


But for the purposes of this filing, we did not go back and try to correct every line item in 2002 to match on a year-over-year basis our 2002, 2003.  One of the ones we found in assessments for this filing is that in 2002

for trouble calls, financial numbers just didn't seem right to us.  There was some credit in there, some dollars that were credited against that account.  We didn't try to correct for it.  We didn't try to go back and through all the transactions to see what that was for.  So it really is a bit of an issue, and I can't explain it, to be honest.  The volumes are right.  


We did do about -- first reference to that interrogatory, the bottoms were right.  So dollars to us for 2002 seem low by about $12 million, but I don't know why that's to be the case.  We didn't spend a lot of time going through the transactions to try and figure it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I apologize.  I said 28.9 increase.  It's actually 17.8 percent.


MR. CARLTON:  It's still a big increase.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You'll see where the 28 percent came from in my next question, and that has to do with the disconnect and reconnect line item on the same table.  There's -- I suspect I'll have the same answer, but I'll ask the question anyway.
     MR. CARLTON:  Okay.  Ask the question.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  The increase from 2002 to 2003 is 28.9 percent and if you see Board Staff IR No. 47, that's Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 37, the number of disconnect/reconnects, again there's a decrease between 2002 and 2003 but the budget has increased by 29 percent.
     MR. CARLTON:  I suspect that's the same issue that we've identified under the trouble calls as well.  And just excuse me for a second.
     [Witness Panel confers]
     MR. CARLTON:  No, once again, we didn't drill down into this one to see why that number -- for 2002.  We're once again sure that the accomplishment values are correct, but when we look at the financial accounting in that set of books, I'm not sure why.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  And what about 2003 to 2004?  In the same line item, has a 34.7 percent increase.  And there is an increase in the number of disconnect/reconnects, from 8,588 to 10,102, but that's a 17.6 percent increase.
     MR. CARLTON:  This is interrogatory H1-37?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, the same interrogatory.
     MR. CARLTON:  I suspect that is a volume increase and certainly 2004 is when the pension started getting incorporated in our labour rates.  So there's a pension impact that shows up there, general escalation, and a volume increase of 20 percent or whatever that math is, yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, I'm just going to go back to Board Staff IR No. 36, Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 36.  And you've forecasted the number of trouble calls for 2006 at 47,000.  But I see that your line maintenance budget was increased by 11 million and your line clearing budget has increased by 5 million.  And in your pre-filed evidence, you've also said that even in 2004 there had already been a decreasing trend in trouble calls.  Do you agree with that?
     MR. JUHN:  Yes, we did experience lower number of trouble calls during 2004.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  And line maintenance and line clearing, those are preventive maintenance line items?
     MR. JUHN:  The line clearing, yes.  Part of the line maintenance is associated with the increased part of -- the increase associated with line maintenance is for data collection, and the other component involves defect corrections and that is a corrective activity.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  My question is:  Why isn't the forecast for 2006, the number of trouble calls, lower than 2004 given the decreasing trend and the increases to other preventive maintenance budgets?
     MR. JUHN:  One year does not necessarily, in our view, produce a trend.  And so there was no reason for us -- there wasn't any reason for us in the short term to see -- to reduce the number below the 2004 number.  And there's always a lag between when you do maintenance until you actually experience the benefits.  So there wasn't any -- we couldn't definitely project a lower number than 46,000, 47,000 for 2006.  So that's the number we went with

for 2004.
     MR. CARLTON:  And the cost for 2006 are similar to 2004.  I mean, they're a little higher, but then there's about 3 percent per year escalation, which in fact we're somewhat below that.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  If you can turn to the VECC IR No. 32; that's Exhibit H, tab 5, schedule 32.
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  What we asked there is for the -- what you would refer to as the minimum budgets for 2006 for various line items, and what you hope to accomplish by increasing the budget above the minimum level to your proposed level.  And I'm going to refer to the -- to two line items, the line maintenance -- line patrols and line maintenance, preventive and corrective maintenance.  And those two combined are -- the minimum budgeted will be 15.1 million.  Do you see that?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  And based on the budget you presented in the pre-filed evidence, the proposed budget for those two line items is 24.3 million.
     MR. CARLTON:  Just give us a second.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  And I'll just find the reference.  Oh, it's at page 15 of Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, table 5.
     MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  And just for the record, I was referring to the first two line items in table 5, 12.1 million plus 12.2 million.  And the explanation that you've given on the table in VECC IR No. 32 is 114,000 poles inspected and tested, suspension of the data collection initiative, and for the preventive and corrective maintenance, 2,200 re-closures and line regulators, 120 

re-face, which is 6,000 polymetric insulators.  

Do you recall this morning when Mr. Warren was asking you about the line-clearing budget and you directed him to Board Staff IR No. 42, which shows a relationship between increased line clearing and decreased service interruptions?  We don't seem to have that sort of analysis for this increase of 9.2 million over the minimum amount for this line item.
     MR. JUHN:  I should add that with these minimums, our senior management requires us or requests that we pick a bare-bones minimum so that we could, I guess, manage the system under tenuous situations for the next five years.  It's not always necessarily the level that's appropriate for and based on our prioritization, that brings the programs, the level of spending that we would consider acceptable.
     So this is one of the minimums.  If we were always operating at minimum what we select, we probably wouldn't be in business past five years or so.  So that's one of the aspects.  Just to put it in context of what the minimum really is.
     Now, in terms of the defect correction, that's a program that's just starting to take hold and there isn't the information available to make that a direct correlation between reliability and the defect corrections.  We have been patrolling our lines, inspecting them, finding the defects, and currently we have a large number that are in the pool, not necessarily absolutely critical yet, but in time they will be.  And it's our -- and the level that we have selected would increase the defect corrections to about 10,000 or so.  So that's the reason for the level

below the minimum.  And then, in terms of the data collection, the patrols and the data collection, it's really the data collection, and we have a business case that would indicate that that is going to pay some dividends in the long term.  So that's one initiative that in terms of establishing a viable business, we believe that that should go forward. 


So that's the reason why we didn't select the minimum, or the minimum wasn't, I guess -- didn't come out of our prioritization as the level of choice. 


And the other thing is - my colleague just reminded me - is that there are some requirements in the distribution system code for defect corrections.  So at a time -- and this is where you pay now or pay later.  So at a time, we will have to make up those defects that we're deferring in the short term.  So we're going to pay for it sooner or later.  So that's the minimum, and that's, again, the healthy tension that's developed between our senior management and our work program planning, and they always ask us to go right to the bare-bones minimum, and that's what this represents in this case.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But you can't tell us, as you did with line-clearing, increases in line-clearing budget, essentially what we're getting for the extra 9.2 million in terms of the impact on service quality or interruptions? 


MR. JUHN:  One of them is, as I mentioned, the defect corrections in the longer term, it's called compliance.  And in terms of the data-collection project, there's a business case that identifies a return on investment over a number of years.  So it's a different situation than the vegetation management.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


Mr. Dingwall, are you going to go next.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm wondering if we might take a five-minute break.  The only reason is I want to check one reference in the morning transcript, which might save me ten minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Five-minute break. 



--- Break taken at 2:45 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:55 p.m.

        MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated. 

        Mr. Dingwall. 

        MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

        CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

        MR. DINGWALL:  Good afternoon, Panel.  My name is Brian Dingwall.  I'm hear on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters this afternoon to ask you a couple of questions, in two areas principally, and I will be brief.  The rest is up to you.


The first area is with respect to the whole question that's posed by the City of Greater Sudbury.  Has the company any experience of customers who have yet to be connected to a distribution system in that area who are seeking to make a choice between either Hydro One or Greater Sudbury? 


MR. GEE:  I do not recall a situation in the Sudbury area where we've had a licence boundary issue that I can recall.  I should say, I'm involved in preparing the information that would go to the Ontario Energy Board and the decision, so I'm going by memory, but I do see them and I don't recall one.


MR. DINGWALL:  That's fine.  Thank you.  That moves us on to our second area, and we're doing very well.


Just to go down the road of the history lesson - and I'm only going to go back as far as this morning – 

Mr. Warren asked a number of questions, as did Ms. Lea, with respect to vegetation management, and that's the next topic I'd like to address.  In reading through the evidence, it seems to me -- would it be fair to say that the company's programs generally involve more in the way of trimming and reacting to service interruptions than planned management? 


MR. JUHN:  Specifically or vegetation management or the overall program? 


MR. DINGWALL:  The overall program. 


MR. JUHN:  For 2006, we're projecting on the planned 144.6 million, on OM&A sustaining and 85.7 on unplanned work.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm sorry.  I was referring to the planned.  I meant any planned aspects, specifically within the umbrella of vegetation management.  Let me give you just another question that might focus that a bit. 


Has there been any thought given by the company to the burying of service lines in areas where that might be feasible, as opposed to the ongoing and repetitive costs associated with vegetation management? 


MR. JUHN:  I can say it has been a consideration, but I do not have the financial numbers to support it.


MR. DINGWALL:  At this point in time, is it a part -- or is the burying of any service lines part of the 2006 plan?


MR. GEE:  We do not have a program where we're looking to bury feeders as a means to do with forestry issues.  However, on the construction of any new facility, whether that be a betterment from sustaining or developing or the new construction or a feeder, the cost benefit of underground would be taken into consideration on an individual case basis, including underground submarine and burial.  So it is considered part of the planning of a construction of a line for other reasons, but not ones that we're looking to bury feeders on an ongoing basis.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Now, I asked you in the context of that question with respect to the vegetation management program.  Would you have the same answer if I were to ask that question in context of line replacement? 


MR. GEE:  We do get scenarios for vegetation management and for line maintenance or rehab where the rebuilding -- relocating and/or burial of a line would be a solution.  So it is considered on an individual case basis, as needed.  A line that is in the back yards of homes that are hard to get to, you know, part of -- and have reliability issues, we will look at what is the best case, which will include new locations and burial of lines on an individual case basis.  But not an overall program as a

strategy for vegetation management.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Is that something you haven't looked at or is it something that you've looked at and discounted? 


MR. JUHN:  Conclusively, I can't give you an answer on that, but I know looking at the numbers on the surface would indicate that definitely in the short term it would be substantially more costly to bury feeders versus the vegetation management.  And I believe that is the initial view of it and the initial assessment.  I don't have the final numbers that I could provide to substantiate the full life cycle cost of overhead with vegetation management versus underground.


MR. DINGWALL:  You made a reference to cost comparison between the short term and the long term.  Can you give me an indication of what time period you're thinking of in terms of the short term?  Would that be the test year? 


MR. JUHN:  It would be one vegetation management cycle.  If you're looking at our costs for vegetation management and you're looking at in the neighbourhood of we're doing over 10,000 kilometres for somewhere in

the neighbourhood of 90, 93.9 million dollars, when you break that down into a per-kilometre basis, it definitely does not justify burying a feeder.


MR. GEE:  It may not help, because I don't have the specifics, but I do know that Ontario Hydro at the time did a study after the 1998 ice storm, and one of the valuations was whether burying plant would be advantageous.  I'm also aware that Hydro Quebec did one similar, and I don't have it, and I don't know the specifics, but I know the conclusion was that it was not a cost benefit overall.


MR. DINGWALL:  Do you recall whether any of those studies actually placed a value on reliability or service interruption? 


MR. GEE:  I don't know the details on that.  I'm sorry.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Now, I understand that there's another process which is in use in other jurisdictions as kind of an add-on to vegetation management which involves replacing faster-growing shrubs and trees with varieties that do not require the same frequency of trimming or cutting.  Is that something that you've considered is part of your program?
     MR. JUHN:  It is a practice we use, integrated vegetation management.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And is that expected to change your cycle frequency over the long term?
     MR. JUHN:  Most of our work, or a large part of our work, is in the rural areas and -- where the tree densities are fairly thick, and the integrative vegetation management would not necessarily reduce our long-term -- well, reduce the costs significantly.  I don't have the numbers to provide you, but I know on the -- in other areas, in urban areas and such, more urban areas, it is used.
     MR. GEE:  One of the real benefits we get from a field execution point of view is that we strive for a fairly high removal rate of trees that will be -- potentially cause reliability problems or costly to treat over time.  It is more advantageous for us to remove that tree totally. Obviously customers and others are always -- not always agreeable to that.  So part of negotiating with customers is that we will remove the tree, replace it with another, and the species we would replace it with is one more compatible.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I guess one of the concerns that many people have is, of course, the size of this program as it's increased over the years, and there have been a number of efforts to understand this program in the possible context of other programs that take place in North America.  I understand - and we don't need to turn this up - Energy Probe asked in their interrogatory number 56 - I think it’s their second list - asking to provide any studies or analysis benchmarking Hydro One Network’s delivered work against external forestry costs and your response in that one is that:

“There are no studies we are aware of that directly compare our costs to external contractors.”  

And I'm just looking through my notes here.  There was a cross-reference in that IR response to Board Staff 42 which asked a similar type of question.  And I'm just turning to my slow technology:

“Please provide any results of any benchmarking study related to vegetation management and the related line clearing of the distribution system which was completed in the last ten years by Hydro One Networks or any of its predecessors.”  

And your response in that circumstance was:  "We have not undertaken any benchmarking studies," with some reference to other anecdotal information that you were aware of.
     Now, let me ask a different question but one that I think is probably working down the line that these other interrogatories were working and that might achieve some sort of answer.  Has Hydro One participated in any study which attempts to benchmark the costs associated with vegetation management?  So not have you undertaken any study or directed any study, but have you participated in any study?
     [Witness Panel confers]
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  We have participated in a PA -- I think it's PA Consulting.
     MR. DINGWALL:  That's the one that you reference in Board Staff 42.
     MR. ROGERS:  Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 42, page 5.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, that's one study.
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Have you participated in any others?
     MR. CARLTON:  Excuse us.
     [Witness Panel confers]
     MR. CARLTON:  Thanks.  We're not aware of any other studies like that where we participated.  We have made some other visits to utilities based on best practices, and I believe our vegetation management people have gone down and visited some other utilities on their practices to try to see what they could learn.  But my -- as far as I know, the PA Consulting is the only one where we were able to extract some vegetation O&M data that we could pull together and do any kind of --
     MR. DINGWALL:  Let's take a look at H1-42 for a second, the response to D.  Your response to that was:  "On a periodic basis we do collect data for internal comparison purpose."  

That was one line of the response.  There is more.  But I initially took it from this response was this was information you extracted through PA Consulting from other utilities, not a study you actually participated in.
     Am I understanding it now correctly that the PA Consulting study was a study that you participated in?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  PA Consulting have to periodically collect data from people and give you the results and that's what we participated in.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So then you would have received -- let me roll back for a second there.  Have you -- what exactly did this study cover, apart from the portions you've excerpted?
     MR. CARLTON:  It would have -- it would collect data like how many customers you have, line length, what your O&M dollars were, what your vegetation O&M dollars were, what your transmission, transformer maintenance would be.  So there would be some specific items in there.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So in addition to what you put in this response, there would be some other information that would give you some idea of where you would be in contact with some of the other respondents to some of the questions?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  I'm not sure the relevance to this.  That's why I'm hesitating.  But this is the one where it was something that was --
     MR. DINGWALL:  You've made the assertion here that you've compared total vegetation O&M costs per kilometre and that your response -– that your results were slightly higher than the median.  You've made a couple of other assertions.  What they suggest is that in some ways you're out of the loop in regards to other utilities and other ways you might be kind of in the same ballpark.  It seems to me that incomplete information, such as what you've excerpted, might not really give us the full picture.  Can you give me an indication of what other metrics were used in this study?
     MR. CARLTON:  Which study are you referring to?
     MR. DINGWALL:  The PA Consulting one.
     MR. CARLTON:  I'm not that familiar with it.  I don't believe there were -- I'm not familiar with what metrics might have come out of it.  There was some data we tried to pull out of it.
     MR. DINGWALL:  It's a study you participated in.  You pulled out some data, put it in evidence, and not provided other data.  So I'm trying to understand what value --
     MR. ROGERS:  Well, the answer is the undertaking.  That's what they did, in fairness.  They weren't asked to produce all data from the study.  They were asked in the interrogatory and they answered it.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm sorry.  In checking the reference, I did not see the reference to the morning undertakings.
     MR. ROGERS:  I misspoke.  I’m sorry.  It's not an undertaking.  It's an interrogatory.  They were asked a question and they provided an answer.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Let me turn back to the question here.
     MR. ROGERS:  It's not fair to criticize them because they haven't included a lot of other information.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Before we get into discussing this, is there a concern with producing the study, Mr. Rogers? 


MR. ROGERS:  Let me just see whether it's available.


MR. CARLTON:  I must confess, I'm not familiar with this study that was prepared.  Online there's some data that we participated, so we can extract some data and see what analysis we can do on it.  I really have to make myself familiar with what it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Why don't we undertake to do that.  That will suffice at this point anyway.  We'll see what the shape of this study or survey is.


MS. NOWINA:  It seems to me unclear, Mr. Dingwall, whether or not there's a report or what exists.  So are you satisfied with an undertaking to make an assessment of that and get back to us? 


MR. DINGWALL:  I think it would be helpful to get the table of contents, and then we can go from there on relevance and then indicate as well whether it's a report or a formal study and what the work product of it was.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm not even certain from what I've heard that there is a table of contents. 


MR. CARLTON:  I don't know either.


MR. ROGERS:  Until I know what we've got.


MS. NOWINA:  So the undertaking would be to let us know what has been produced from the study and from there, Mr. Dingwall, we can make the assessment of whether or not we need it.


MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly.  And my final question.


MS. NOWINA:  Can we get the undertaking number.


MS. CAMPBELL:  It would be J2.7.


UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:  LET US KNOW WHAT HAS BEEN


PRODUCED FROM THE PA CONSULTING STUDY


MR. DINGWALL:  The Panel has given the earlier answer that it's not aware of whether any other study was Participated in by Hydro One. 


I'm going to ask for the undertaking to check further and see whether Hydro One was involved in a study in 2002 with CN Utility, another consulting firm which I understand produced a report, and to confirm whether or not they were involved in that vegetation management benchmarking study, and then to produce the report that resulted from that.


MS. NOWINA:  If they were involved.


MR. DINGWALL:  If they were involved.


MR. CARLTON:  Did you see CN Utilities? 


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.


MR. CARLTON:  I'm certainly not aware.


MR. ROGERS:  We'll look at it.  Obviously, 

Mr. Dingwall, you have some more information about it.  Can you give me -- any information you can give me to help narrow their search down would be appreciated.  You obviously have some information.


MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps Mr. Dingwall can do that after.


MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Another undertaking.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That would be J2.8.


UNDERTAKING NO. J2.8:  CHECK FURTHER AND SEE WHETHER


HYDRO ONE WAS INVOLVED IN A STUDY IN 2002 WITH CN


UTILITY, ANOTHER CONSULTING FIRM WHICH PRODUCED A


REPORT, AND TO CONFIRM WHETHER OR NOT THEY WERE


INVOLVED IN THAT VEGETATION MANAGEMENT BENCHMARKING


STUDY, AND THEN TO PRODUCE THE REPORT THAT RESULTED
FROM THAT.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

Mr. Adams?  Mr. MacIntosh?  Who is up?  Mr. Adams. 


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Panel. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS: 


MR. ADAMS:  My name is Tom Adams.  I'm representing Energy Probe, and I have a number of questions in a few areas that I want to introduce to you, but I want to encourage all members of the Panel to speak up.  My

questions are not directed at any particular panelist.  


The areas that I want to canvass with you relate to the budget and process, some additional questions in the area of vegetation management and benchmarking, and I've

got a couple of follow-up questions, one follow-up question in the area of interest rate treatment for budgeting purposes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams, can you make sure that you're speaking into your mike, please.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  I'm sorry.  Do I need to repeat anything? 


MS. NOWINA:  Does he need to repeat anything, Panel?  Are you okay? 


MR. CARLTON:  I don't think so.


MS. NOWINA:  You're okay.


MR. ADAMS:  Yesterday my colleague Mr. MacIntosh was asking questions on the area of other external work revenue, where there was an anomaly in the 2004 year related to additional work that Hydro One was involved in, we understand, in restoration related to storm damage, with other utilities.  And I want to follow up in this area. 


If I understand correctly, the billing methodology underpinning the invoices that are brought to other utilities to recover costs associated with that restoration work is that Hydro One simply flows through its own costs and recovers them from another utility.  Is that -- it's not a for-profit activity? 


MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.  It's our own fully loaded costs, and all incremented expenses would be pulled together in work orders and we would invoice the utility that amount.


MR. ADAMS:  And if I understand correctly, this is a kind of reciprocity type of agreement that many utilities have with each other in the hope that if we ever have a big problem here, we can call them and receive services on the same basis.


MR. CARLTON:  Similar to the ice storm in 1998, where everyone came to our assistance.


MR. ADAMS:  So just in general terms, there were revenues earned in 2004; they were approximately $20 million higher than the usual.  Now, that $20 million would correspond to higher costs experienced in 2004 of an identical amount; correct? 


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. ADAMS:  So if we look to the summary tables for your O&M budget trend, the 2004 amount would have some place in there an unusual item for $20 million? 


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, where I'm going here is:  How do we know that that $20 million did not follow through into a subsequent year budget? Where do we see that removal? 


MR. CARLTON:  Just give me a second.  Schedule C1, tab 2, schedule 6, shared services and other OM&A.  If you're going to move there, page 2 of 72. 


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. CARLTON:  You'll see under table 1.0 there's a line cost of sales external work.  So you'll see a budget of 2002 of 8.8, 8.6 -- sorry.  An actual of 8.8, 8.6, then 28.1 and 6.4 and 7.0 that actual incorporates the extra $20 million for the external work.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.


MR. CARLTON:  We pulled that out of S, D & O so it doesn't skew those results.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  We should have picked that up.  That's great.  Now, the areas we want to look at, this vegetation management question, and I want introduce this area of questions by agreeing with you about -- what I took from your earlier, in your earlier testimony, is the “pay me now or pay me later” problem.  If it happens some years from now we discover that your cycle time is too aggressive and you've been cutting too many trees, customers at that point will perhaps see a holiday from some portion of the cost.  What we're seeing now is the pay-me-now part of previous experiences of that kind, deferred maintenance costs.  So I don't want to -- I'm not concerned so much for the purposes of these questions with the issue of the timing of when you incurred these expenses.  I am more interested in -- with underlying cost drivers which are pushing these costs to where they are.


Now, do I understand correctly that none of your forestry operations are contracted out to some of the contracting firms that do this kind of work, like Davie or Aspilon.


MR. GEE:  That's correct.  There's some small contracting for some capital work in some spots, but no, we do not contract out major contract work.  We utilize hiring haul resources, which is very similar to contract resources and other utilities.


MR. ADAMS:  And do I understand correctly that this contracting practice and business management practice is tied in with your labour agreements?

     MR. GEE:  The labour agreements obviously have an impact on that.  If we were to contract, we do have some collective agreement requirements we'd have to meet.  However, having said that, we have and do continually look at what the opportunities are in the market with contractors and whether those might be something that would be beneficial enough that we would engage our unions in those discussions.  We have – essentially went out for requests for information for contractors to look at what their capabilities were and we agreed to continue on in the means that we are.
     MR. ADAMS:  Is that because the contractors were not able to meet your requirements in some way?
     MR. GEE:  One of the major issues was the initial

capability of contractors.  Most contractors required a multi-year commitment of a work program, which from our point of view reduced the flexibility.  And when you had discussions with them about how they were going to go about and do it, they were going to have to ramp up with new apprentices, use hiring hall resources, have vehicles; their cost structures were not going to be the same as ours for the incremental resources.  So us losing the flexibility of the program with no real cost advantage made the conclusion that we should continue to expand the use of the hiring hall as the most beneficial practice.
     MR. ADAMS:  That approach is contrary to the approach we've seen the gas utilities go in, for example, with laying pipe.  At one time they used to do a lot of that work in-house.  Now, services, maintenance are typically done with contractor forces.  There's been a real trend for cost reasons.  In the gas case, many of these contracting arrangements are quite long term.  The contractors are tied into the IT systems and work program dispatch of the gas utilities.  But that's not at all what we see happening with your company.  What's the big difference that causes them to go in the contracting direction and you to stay with in-house resources?
     MR. GEE:  I'm really not familiar with the gas industry and where you're going.  What I can say is that in some of our comparisons and looking at other utilities and practices -- for example, Arizona has looked at us trying to reduce some of our contractors and bringing in their own resources.  There’s one place that is going different.  Other utilities, although they say they contract out, when you look at the contract, you would find that their organization and practices look very similar to our hiring-hall practices.  It would almost be the same process, although they would argue it's contracted out because it’s not regular resources.  

I can't comment on the gas industries, but in our review of this and ongoing analysis, we don't see the advantages of going out and having contractors ramp up this work.  There doesn't seem to be the cost or service advantages for us.
     MS. NOWINA:  Can you tell me what hiring hall is?
     MR. GEE:  I'm sorry.  Hiring hall is very much like the construction industry.  It is non -- it is temporary employees that are not employees of Hydro One, permanent employees.  We will put a requisition in and say we need five linemen, a hundred linemen, we need labourers, we need forestry clearers, and they supply us with trained people.  Very much like a contractor would -- if a contractor wanted something in construction, they would go and get a carpenter or a plumber.  So it's a capability to get skilled resources.  And they are not permanent employees of the company.
     MS. NOWINA:  Are they covered by your collective agreement?
     MR. GEE:  We have a collective agreement with the Power Workers Union.  For the hiring hall, it’s different and separate requirements.  We also have -- we don't use them as much in distribution, but from a whole company, we have - I should know the number - but over 30 different collective agreements with electricians, truck drivers.  So hiring hall from a work point of view is something that we use quite a bit in the business.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Adams, continue.

MR. GEE:  We need to provide flexibility to responding to either seasonal variations or year-over-year variations in program.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
     MR. ADAMS:  Thank you for those questions and clarification.
     Would it be possible to benchmark your vegetation management costs against those of that of private contractors for specific, defined work outputs?
     MR. GEE:  I'm not sure it would be easy to benefit, but one of the points I think that, in a rather simple way, would help explain the differences is that a company like Davie Tree is very much -- is very like to go to the hiring hall to get the resources they need and they are going to be paying the same wages and labour that we would use.  So the cost structure for the hiring hall resources are the same for almost everybody that's using them.  

So if you build from that, suggesting that the base -- that that is a labour-intensive program, that the labour costs are going to be the same, you start to add in contract administration on both sides and you add in a profit component and you lose flexibility on your work programming, I think there's an easy theme to say there's not going to be much difference there as you go down the path.
     MR. ADAMS:  Do you benchmark your productivity per labour hour?
     MR. THOMPSON:  We do have a year-over-year comparison in terms of our line clearing, for example, and we have it in the evidence.  It's not benchmarked against others, but it's our own internal year-over-year assessment.
     MR. ADAMS:  Is it something that's susceptible to external benchmark?
     MR. GEE:  The -- our conclusion in looking at potential benchmarking is that the right-of-way conditions and what you're treating are a much bigger factor of what your costs are going to be on a unit basis.  If in fact you're cutting a tree that has only grown 7 or 8 years and trying to clear that, versus one that's grown 10 or 12 years; you have much more work.  So we do do the analysis on the tree.  So as we try to get into the benchmarking analysis, again we find our unique nature, what we're trying to deal with, meaning it's not a perfect comparison for benchmarking.  So we really use that information to try and find practices to see what we can learn and to see what we can continuously improve.
     MR. ADAMS:  I think we all -- we can agree that tree density, trunk diameter, distance of line cleared, with the right of way, all those are factors that drive cost.  But there's got to be analytical techniques to sort out these issues to get at the bottom -- the base factors.  You take the position that nobody can clear your trees at a lower hourly rate for labour than you can?
     MR. GEE:  We did put out a formal request for information to talk about -- to have companies provide information on their capabilities and how they would go about resourcing our program.  And the results from that was such that their cost structures were going to be no different than others going forward from a base cost.
     MR. ADAMS:  When did your request go out?
     MR. GEE:  2003.  There is some information on Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 13, a response to interrogatory.
     MR. ADAMS:  So just to kind of close off this area:  It costs you something like $9,300 a kilometre to clear your lines, and you think that's a rock-bottom price; nobody can do it for cheaper than that across your system?
     MR. GEE:  From the information we've been able to obtain for trying to get the work volumes across the whole province, in that kind of situation in volume, we did not find anybody who responded to our request for information to do that.  Having said that, we do and have seen small contractors for capital clearing, where you go out, that, you know, have prices that are lower.  And we do use those in small pieces in certain spots. 


But for the size of the program across the whole province, we haven't found anybody who's responded saying they were able to do it in the manner that was advantageous that would make that decision.


MR. ADAMS:  Let me close off this way.  If somebody came forward to you and offered you a better price, would you have the business flexibility over time to put yourself in a position to acquire those resources?  Appreciating that in the short term you may not be able to, but in the longer term, if the opportunity presented itself, could you

take advantage of it? 


MR. GEE:  Yes, I believe we could.


MR. ADAMS:  That's great.  Thank you.  


One final area that I would appreciate just a little bit of help with.  It's a fairly mechanical item.  I wonder if I can take you to a couple of references.  And you may bump me to another panel if this isn't appropriate for this particular panel.  The area relates to an exchange rate assumption that's part of your business-planning assumptions that was set at what appears now to be a fairly high exchange rate, since the Canadian dollar has made some progress.  There's a flow-through effect that I want to pick up.


MR. CARLTON:  Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2 talks about exchange rate? 


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  And page 3 of that exhibit --


MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  -- has an exchange rate there, an assumption for both the bridge and test years in the $1.22 range?


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, there's an interrogatory from Board Staff, interrogatory response number 15, that provides an updated consensus forecast in the $1.18 range, corresponding to the $1.22 range.


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  And I'll just note for the record that that response was filed in November.  The Canadian dollar has improved since that time further.  My question is:  Is the company planning any kind of update to take into account changes in the exchange rate that would have impacts on the test year budgets? 


MR. CARLTON:  No, we're not.  This is one -- this may be one change in rates, but we're also seeing some other change in rates, in fact, driving costs the other way, increased commodity prices, increased fuel.  Some of those costs are driving us up and we're going to try to manage within what we've submitted here with all those increased cost pressures.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.


Mr. Scully, you didn't plan to question this Panel?


MR. SCULLY:  No. 


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have 35 minutes.  Is that --


MS. NOWINA:  You've got it, Mr. Shepherd. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And I understand I'm under the gun because I can go over today. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Witnesses, my name is Jay Shepherd.  I represent the School Energy Coalition.  I want to start with a follow-up to something Mr. DeVellis asked earlier today.  He talked with you, Mr. Gee, about customer survey results, and you said that you have all the - I think it was you - that you have all these results but they're not in a form that you can report them, you can give any useful information to the Board.  Do you recall that? 


MR. GEE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You must report that internally.  Like, there must be people in management that want to know how your customer survey results.


MR. GEE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, presumably, those internal reports are something that would be useful to the Board to see what those trends are, wouldn't they?


MR. GEE:  We do have the overall customer satisfaction number that is reported internally.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but surely you disaggregated more than that for your management.  You don't just give them one number every month and say, Here's the number. 


[Witness Panel confers]


MR. GEE:  The customer satisfaction numbers are actually polled and taken twice a year.  So we end up with a result that we report twice a year.  Typically, what we would have as content is something like a PowerPoint presentation, that the pollsters would give us information back.  So when I say what the content is, that's what it is.  But our actual satisfaction number is an end result that is reported twice a year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you get the report from the pollsters, that comes to somebody in line management, right, who then reports it to the executive management? 


MR. GEE:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry to interrupt, Mr. Shepherd.  The next panel, actually, I think might be able to answer this line of questioning for you.  It covers the issue of customer care.  I'm instructed that the next panel might be better informed about this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm happy to wait to the next panel if that's better.


MR. CARLTON:  I think that's more appropriate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The next thing I want to follow up on is:  You had a discussion with Mr. DeVellis about the treatment of pension costs, which I actually thought I understood until I heard the answers and then I got confused.  But tell me whether this is right:  That the increase in pension costs over 2004, 2005, and 2006 shows

only in the other OM&A lines, that the difference only shows there because the individual line items already have pension costs in them.


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But for the period 2002 to 2006, the difference in pension costs will actually show in the individual line items because in 2002 you didn't have any pension costs in there; right? 


MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.  2004 over 2003.  In 2004, we started building in the pension costs into our labour rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if we're comparing line item 2004 to 2006, pension costs isn't part of the difference unless it's another OM&A.


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But if we're comparing 2002 to 2006, pension costs could well be part of the difference.


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Perfect.  Then let me just follow up on something you talked about just now with Mr. Adams.  You have this ongoing sort of build or buy choice about whether you do your various line work, for example, with internal resources or external resources.  That's what you were talking about with him; right? 


MR. GEE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I take it that you have some sort of monitoring approach that you use, as with any business judgment, to decide when is it appropriate to think about outsourcing this; is that right? 


MR. GEE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not formal, but you still look at it on a regular basis? 


MR. GEE:  On a regular basis.  I would say that our investment planning and business planning processes, both of them are such that they put a real emphasis and pressure on the operational units, look at cost efficiencies.  And there's a number of ways to do that, and one of them is

obviously looking at the resource make-up and resource mix.  Periodically, that would be something we would review and consider and have to respond to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so do you do on a regular basis reports to senior management on that question, is it time to outsource this or that or the other thing, or in general? 


MR. GEE:  There's not something that comes in part of a report.  Part of a business planning process would be looking at cost efficiencies and cost savings, and productivity is an integral part of your business planning process, part of our business.  So each time, we're being ask the business where we're going and what we're looking at.  So it's not something that we would look at every single year, we’re looking at opportunities and reviewing it.  We would be, on an ongoing basis, trying to compare our practices to what we see in other utilities.   We visit many utilities and see what they're doing.  So there's a -- there's probably a trigger that says but it does not manifest itself in a report that we would send out to senior management.   In the business-planning process, we would say these are the things we think we can do.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you can't think of a report you've done or that you've seen in the last couple of years that assesses this outsourcing question that Mr. Adams was talking about, does the analysis in a rigorous way or a disciplined way?
     MR. GEE:  There's not a report in that sense.  I think I talked about the request for information that we put out for forestry and the results that we got back from that.  Again, I'm not sure that's in a report that you would look at from that point of view, but we do have the information.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just stop you on that?  Somebody did a summary of that for management; right?  You didn't just give them the raw data and say, Here, take a look.  
     [Witness Panel confers]
     MR. GEE:  The conclusion of our analysis was a presentation of our resource strategy for the company.  Again, I think what we may have is something like a PowerPoint presentation on what we did, what we found, and a recommendation and where we would go.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that would be really useful to see.  Do you mind undertaking to provide that?
     MR. ROGERS:  I don't think it's appropriate for an applicant in a case like this to have to produce these internal working papers and presentations to management.  I mean official reports, yes, but not working papers and PowerPoint presentations.
     MS. NOWINA:  Comment, Mr. Shepherd?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess we're so used to, in other utility cases, seeing internal reports on a regular basis.  I'm actually quite surprised that Mr. Rogers would object to this.  The question in my mind is:  Would it be useful to the Board to see this?  If there's an issue, as 

Mr. Adams has raised and I think we may raise too, as to whether outsourcing is an alternative that should be considered, then if the company has information on that, it would be useful for the Board to see.  And it seems to me that's the only test.
     MS. NOWINA:  Do you have concerns regarding confidentiality?
     MR. ROGERS:  I don't know what we're dealing with.  It’s a question of confidentiality, but perhaps not in this case.  It's more a general proposition, Ms. Nowina, that companies have to be able to manage their affairs, they have to be able to have free discourse within the confines of the company without feeling that every paper and every discussion and every recommendation is going to be open to public scrutiny.  Because it will have a chilling effect on the kind of discourse that goes on within a company like this.  That's all.  That's my main concern.
     MS. NOWINA:  I understand that, Mr. Rogers.  But this RFI has been referred to several times, and it seems to be the one study that was done in this area, and the costs in this area are significant.  So it doesn't seem to be a general request, but one specifically to the outcome for the study.  It appears that the presentation to management is the only outcome of this study.
     MR. ROGERS:  Well, I sense -- I sense I'm -- I hate to lose an argument, so I'll bail out before I do.  I've made my point and it's a point of principle, really.  So may I 

-- let us at least see.  I'll see what we have.  Can I do that, first of all, as a first step?  And I'll report back to the Board.  And if it is something that is in a form that is conveniently produced, I think I'll likely do so without further objection.
     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Let me just confer with my colleagues for a moment to make sure that they agree with me.
     [Board Panel confers]
     MS. NOWINA:  It didn't help you, Mr. Rogers.
     MR. ROGERS:  I was afraid of that.
     MS. NOWINA:  We would like it filed, please.  And if there are -- if you have a concern regarding confidentiality and you need to make redactions, then please do that and we'll discuss the appropriateness of that when we get the document.
     MR. ROGERS:  Very well.  I'll see if there's an it.  If there is, I'll produce it.
     MS. NOWINA:  I'm assuming that there is an it or some outcome to this RFI, since decisions were made on that basis.  So that would be?
     MS. CAMPBELL:  Undertaking J2.9.
     UNDERTAKING NO. J2.9:  Provide copy of presentation

regarding outsourcing
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Madam Chair, I foolishly thought that was the easy part of my cross.
     Let me turn to another question.  Witnesses, you've a number of times said in your direct evidence in your answers to cross-examination that Hydro One is unique and is not comparable to other LDCs in the province; right?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  True?  It's true that one way you can compare what you do to what other LDCs do is by how much you charge overall for it, right, how much you charge that particular customer compared to what somebody else would charge the same customer in the same circumstances?  You can make that comparison, can't you?
     MR. CARLTON:  If they're the same circumstance.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, when you file a rate application, there are some standard sample customers that you have to -- you're required to calculate the bill impact; right?  Are you familiar with that?  Will you accept that subject to check?  It's only a set-up question.
     MR. CARLTON:  I'll accept that subject to check.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So my question is this:  In your budgeting process, because I understand you're not responsible for the rate filing.  You're responsible for budgeting line items; right?  My question is:  In that budgeting process, is part of that process -– is there somewhere in that process where the fact that your rates may be higher than other utilities, and accepted you're the highest in the province, that that factor is somehow taken into account when you do your budgeting?
     MR. PENSTONE:  One of the factors that we do take into account is one called -- with respect to competitiveness, which goes to the point in terms of our costs and efficiencies.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.
     MR. PENSTONE:  But the direct answer to your question, is it a direct consideration when we're developing our business plans?  No.  However, within our business plans we do identify programs which are designed to achieve cost efficiencies.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I'm going to come back to cost efficiencies in a second, but I guess -- but my last question on that point is:  Are you made aware from senior management or from your regulatory department or whatever of what the actual differences are between what you charge your customers and what other utilities charge their customers?  When you're doing budgeting, is that information available to you? 


MR. PENSTONE:  The information -- I don't know whether the information is available torrent.  We don't use it, though.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you. 


MR. CARLTON:  Excuse me.  I would say we're made aware of what the rate impact would be on our customers, not necessarily what others are charging.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but -- I understand that.  So if your budget increases rates by 3.8 percent, you need to know that, because that's your customers being affected; right? 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But if you're charging a school, for example, $21,000 a year for distribution and Hamilton is charging 6,000 and those are not hypothetical numbers, you don't know that when you're doing your budget? 


MR. CARLTON:  I don't know that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Let me then turn to another area, and that is:  It's true, isn't it, that Ontario CPI from 2002 to 2006 increased by 8.6 percent, according to your actuals and forecast?  Or would you accept that subject to check from your evidence?  I can point you to the evidence if you prefer. 


MR. CARLTON:  What was the number? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  8.6 percent from 2002 to 2006. 


MR. CARLTON:  It looks about right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And would you also accept that your customer growth from 2002 to 2006 is 4.1 percent, 46,000 on 1118? 


MR. CARLTON:  Subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And so is it fair, and would this be part of your analysis when you're looking at budgeting -- is it fair to start by saying, without any productivity or efficiency, a good baseline to compare is 13 percent from 2002 to 2006?  Is that fair?  You have all

sorts of other factors, but I'm just looking at baseline. 


MR. CARLTON:  I don't think we would look at it that way, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't think that's a fair --


MR. CARLTON:  We would look at what are the objectives we need to set, using that as a base.  That might be one criteria we'd look at, but not the only criteria we'd look at.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that raises a question, because I'm used to when you do budgeting, you do budgeting in context.  You don't just look at how much I want to spend; you look at how much should my customers be paying.  I take it what you're saying is you only look at the first part; from your end, you only look at the how much do I need to spend. 


MR. PENSTONE:  We look at what do we need to spend in order to ensure the long-term viability of our assets.  But another consideration in determining our programs is customer satisfaction.  And customer satisfaction, in many cases, requires money to be spent.  And a customer in the dark for an extended period of time is not necessarily -- the first thing on his mind is not necessarily how much is he paying in distribution charges.  He wants to get his lights back on.  So there's a variety of things that affect customer satisfaction.  We acknowledge that the cost of

our service is one of them, but there are a number of other factors as well.  So I mean we do consider the impact of our actions on customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just ask that, the obvious question to that.  You're right, the customer in the dark, the only thing that they're really concerned with is getting the lights back on; right?  True? 


MR. PENSTONE:  I can speak for myself, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's also true that every other day of the year they're much more concerned with how much their rates are than getting their lights back on because their lights are on; right?


MR. PENSTONE: Or they're concerned if calling Hydro One and we have an inquiry and how quickly the phone gets answered, and if they have an appointment with us, we meet the appointment date and so forth.  These are all addressed in the service quality indices.  There's a number of factors that keep customers happy or unhappy.


 MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact it's true, isn't it, that in your budgeting process it's really a balancing exercise because you could spend a lot more money than you are spending now, than you are proposing to spend, but you're balancing out how much should we be spending to maintain an appropriate level of service; isn't that right? 


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  It's basically we're trying to identify the incremental risks and ensure that those risks across a number of objectives are consistent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then what I don't understand is how -- is why you don't include in that analysis the overall level of the bill to the customer.  Why wouldn't that be one of the parameters you're looking at? 


MR. PENSTONE:  We don't do it, but we do measure customer satisfaction.  And the customer satisfaction, as was previously indicated, has improved in a number of sectors. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. PENSTONE:  But to your point, it's not a direct consideration.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn now to H3, schedule 2. 


This is the one that was just re-filed today with the new attachment.  It's a School Energy Coalition interrogatory number 2.  And what it is is an overall line-by-line summary of your OM&A expenses from 2002 to 2006, with percentages increased and decreased.  Do you see that? 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you'll be pleased to know I'm not going to go through this line by line, but it's true that one of the ways that we can look at this is we can look at this column 9, which is the increase over those four years, and where that increase is more than 13 percent, the Board should legitimately ask why is that; isn't that true?


MR. CARLTON:  I'm not sure that's true.  Why 13 percent? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this is the number we already identified as CPI plus customer growth. 


MR. CARLTON:  I wouldn't say that necessarily would be the escalator we would look at.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What escalator do you think would be appropriate?


MR. CARLTON:  Well, that just looks at CPI.  CPI isn't the driver of our costs.  We also have our labour increases, our pension increase, which added about $39 million to the plan, isn't included in that 13 percent you mentioned.  Another significant driver is other post-employment benefits, which is going up significantly, which added about another $14 million to our distribution OM&A, plus our normal O&M distribution cost estimate.  So I'm not sure 13 percent is right.


The other thing to raise is through our work program

prioritization and our asset condition, we've identified we need more work to be done during that, and so that percentage also identifies program requirements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you can't identify, then, a benchmark or a sort of a baseline that the Board could say if it's above that, we need to look at this more closely? 


MR. CARLTON:  I haven't -- no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Okay.  Your total OM&A in 2002 was 337.3.  This is on the fourth -- the last page of this.  337.3 million? 


MR. CARLTON:  Essentially, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're currently proposing 423.1 million; correct? 


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is more than a 25 percent increase.


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is more than 6 percent per year; is that right? 


MR. CARLTON:  Compounding, I'm not sure, but it's in that range.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn to H3 -- if I can figure out which one it is.  H3-28.  Do you have that? 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this is a similar chart for CAPEX?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I take it your answer with respect to CAPEX would be the same, that there is no particular benchmark.  Like 13 percent or something like that is not an appropriate number to compare these increases to; right?
     MR. CARLTON:  That would be correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And your CAPEX for 2002 is listed here as 262.2.  That was your capital expenditures for 2002; right?
     MR. CARLTON:  Correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you actually, when you budget, you sort of -- you budget on using a term called "spend"?  I've heard you say this a number of times, “spend,” which is the combination of capital and OM&A for various categories.  True?
     MR. CARLTON:  We budget separately.  We might make the term – use the term "spend," which might be a total, but we don't really use that in the budget.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could go to Exhibit C1, tab 5, schedule 4, and take a look at page 6 of that evidence.  Do you have that?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this term, "total spend" there, that's CAPEX plus OPEX for each year; is that correct?
     MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, this particular exhibit talks about your cost efficiencies; right?
     MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And what is says, if I understand this, is that over the course of those five years, you generated $154 million per year, that is, on -- for 2006, your expenses are $154 million lower because of your efficiencies over those five years; is that right?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Our 2006 costs are 154 million lower than they otherwise would be if those initiatives hadn't taken place, that's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Wonderful.  And so I'm looking at this and I'm seeing that your total spend has gone -- the actual spend has gone from 600 million to 756 million proposed, which is, if I can find it -- which is 26 percent.  And you're saying that if it weren't for all the efficiencies you built in, you'd actually be asking this Board for 910 million for 2006, a 52 percent increase over four years.  Is that what you're saying?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Subject to check on the numbers, I believe that would be correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess I would ask you -- like, that's a little bit -- you can understand somebody would be taken aback by such a big increase in the costs of operating a relatively stable business.  And so I guess I'm wondering whether somewhere in the evidence we can see what that $910 million would be made up of were it not for those efficiencies.  That is, do we see where all those efficiencies go on the individual lines?  Is that anywhere in the evidence?
     MR. THOMPSON:  In this particular exhibit, we've outlined I think something in the order of seven or eight major initiatives that we've undertaken over this period of time.  Some of them are directly applicable to a work program.  So, for example, the route optimization, it would be directly attributable to that work program.  In other cases, some of the initiatives we've undertaken, for example, as Mr. Gee has pointed out, increasing the flexibility of our labour by having a significant hiring hall component in our business leading to that flexibility, that covers across in programs.  So some are specific; some would be -- some would span many or all of our programs.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have, I take it, the information of where that $154 million is on a line-by-line basis.  You couldn't break it out line by line.
     MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.  But we have offered though, again, in this cost-efficiency exhibit, in the latter parts -- not only have we identified all the initiatives that we've undertaken, but we've also identified what are the impacts on our major distribution work programs on a productivity -- from a productivity perspective year over year on what those initiatives have done to us.  While we can't necessarily trigger one initiative to one program, we can look at the broad perspective of what we've done and how that's affected each of the major work programs.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand what you're saying, sir.  I guess -- you realize that it looks, to the untrained eye, to somebody outside of the organization, like your efficiencies are just a straw man, because it's hard to imagine that you would have been spending $910 million were it not for those efficiencies.  So what I'm asking you is whether you can give me some help in fleshing out the reasonableness of the numbers that you say would have been the case were it not for those efficiencies.  That's all I'm looking for.
     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm not sure what the question is you're asking me.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's late in the day.  You know, never mind.  I won't pursue that.
     I just want to be exactly on 35 minutes.
     MS. NOWINA:  You can give us back two minutes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll give you back the two minutes, Madam Chair.  I'm finished.  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
     Mr. Rogers, are you ready for --     

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS:
     MR. ROGERS:  There's one question.  I think 

Mr. Shepherd did clear up this.  This is the pension issue and I think he cleared it up, but I would like to, if I could, be sure for my own benefit and hopefully for the Board's.
     Gentlemen, I wonder -- could you turn up C1, tab 2, page 2.  C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2.  It's a summary of the distribution OM&A budget, millions of dollars.  Do you have that?
     Now, I was a little confused about how this pension was treated, and I think Mr. Shepherd did deal with it, but I'd just like to walk through this exhibit to be sure I have it straight.
     Do I understand correctly that in -- just starting at the top.  Let's look at one line, sustaining budget in 2002, $172,800,000.  Now, there are no pension costs included in that, as I understand it; is that right?
     MR. CARLTON:  That is correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  Same with 2003, the 196 million; there are no pension costs included in that.
     MR. CARLTON:  Correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  Now, in 2004, there's a big jump there.  Well, there's a jump.  Are there pensions costs included in that?
     MR. CARLTON:  Correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  They start then.
     MR. CARLTON:  Correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  So that in 2005, on that line, we have pension costs built into that as well.
     MR. CARLTON:  Correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  And the same would be true of development, the line below, operation -- and operations and customer care?
     MR. CARLTON:  Correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  Now, where I got confused was on the next line.  When you come down to shared services, you talked about a credit and that's what confused me.  Are there pension costs in that line other shared services and other OM&A?
     MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  What has happened is all labour was charged the pension in 2004, starting in 2004 and beyond.  So within shared services, there would be some corporate common costs, asset management costs, whether it's labour costs, associated with those activities and they would have pension built in.  However, at the bottom line, we would have -- there is a line item in those costs which is in the evidence and it can be talked to when we come to Panel 4.  But there is a line item for deferred pension.  So in 2004, within other OM&A, there would be a credit of $33.2 million to back out the pension that would have been included above.

MR. ROGERS:  So 2004, if I look at the line shared services and other OM&A, I see that the costs go down to 30.4 million to $9.4 million in 2004.


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And that's because in 2004 you back out or deduct the pension which has been added in the lines above.


MR. CARLTON:  That's part of the reason for the reduction.


MR. ROGERS:  And those pension costs that you back out of that line are put in the deferral account? 


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  And will be recovered through another mechanism? 


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.  The same thing happens for 2005.  There's another 38.6 million for the pension costs that year that backed out for the deferral.  For 2006, there's zero in there.  The costs of the pension are properly allocated in the work program and built into our own.


MR. ROGERS:  For 2006.


MR. CARLTON:  For 2006.


MS. LEA:  You're fading, just those last two answers.


MR. CARLTON:  Sorry.  2004 there was a credit of 33.2 built in.  For 2005, there was a credit of 38.6 built in, which once again is for the pension that year which was built into the other line items above.  2006, that credit goes to zero because the pension is incorporated into our work program project cost.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  I think I understand it now.  Thank you very much. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 


Mr. Betts. 


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  This is my first exposure to Hydro One and it would help me to understand, if I could, a little bit of the mechanics of your budgeting process.  There has been reference to various actions that go on during that budgeting process and development of forecasts and all of the other things.  And could you describe to me, for example:  Having been involved with a corporation often, there's some budget criteria that would go down to field staff, and you talked about a bottom-up budgeting and then the initial draft of a budget or the raw materials for a budget come from the field staff back up to perhaps your group and then further up. 


Could you describe in a little more detail first of all whether that was accurate and, secondly, maybe how your system works, if it does work differently. 


MR. PENSTONE:  The process begins with identifying the corporate objectives, which are then translated into quantifiable risks in a distinct set of areas.  And those areas would be reliability, brand, health and safety, and so forth. 


So, for example, if you make the statement that we want to be an excellent distribution company, we need to translate that term into, well, what does that mean as far as the reliability of service, health and safety, and so forth.  And we do do that. 


For each one of those areas, risk is equal to basically probability times outcome.  So we identify, essentially create a matrix of probabilities, the likelihood of an event occurring, and various

Outcomes, some outcomes being very good and other outcomes being very, very bad. 


Using that approach, we then identify for each program a series of actions and equivalent expenditures which identify the risks or benefits that will be achieved based on those actions.  So there's a range.  And we have a technique whereby we can assign a figure, whether it's for an initiative to improve land re-mediation, say, and compare a land re-mediation program and the risks that it's designed to mitigate, versus the risks that are designed to be mitigated by a wood pole replacement program.  So we have a mechanism whereby, for each one of these programs, we can identify various levels of expenditure.  


Each level of expenditure is linked to specific risks or benefits that would be achieved by then, and we're then able to compare what would seem to be separate and distinct

programs to identify the relative benefits of each. 


So by doing that, we're able to identify for this amount of money, here are the benefits that we're going to get in a variety of areas. 


Based on that, we take that and discuss it with our senior management, and they make the determination, after reviewing the various risks that we'll either mitigate or be prepared to accept, and they will determine what is the appropriate expenditure level.  And that expenditure level then enables us to start working backwards and, say, X dollars then gets allocated to each individual program. 


MR. BETTS:  That doesn't necessarily strike me as being bottom-up budgeting, but maybe I didn't catch that term right.  But I do appreciate that description.  I do understand it, and thank you for that.


How will that lead to the generation of specific spending plans at the field level?  You're talking basically at the upper level and a kind of a higher-level view of the budget at that point.  How does that get

down to the detail of what projects go and what don't go? 


MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  So, for example, in the discussion in identification of risks to be mitigated, I'll use everybody's favourite, vegetation management.  So we would identify typically four levels of expenditure that we might use over a five-year time frame.  Based on -- once the total budget has been established, we would go to the appropriate risk level that that represents for all of our

Programs.  We'd identify which risk level that corresponds to for these four vegetation management options, $60 million, $50 million, $80 million, and say that forms the basis or defines the work that will be accomplished by the field, and then that gets awarded to the field forces.


MR. JUHN:  If I may add, Mike, that whole process, it's done in partnership with the field staff.  So it isn't that they're unaware of how much work is going to be coming their way, et cetera.  During the development of the programs, the field is involved.  They provide us with

estimates, with information, and their views on what they consider important.  So it's a process that's done in partnership with the asset management group and the field group. 


MR. BETTS:  So if I can ask a follow-up question to that.  The terms “optimization” and “prioritization,” that's part of the initial phases, then, of the budget development; am I correct? 


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. BETTS:  Okay.  And it's done at the higher levels and approved at the senior level, and then that filters down to be the final -- or to create the final budget at the field level? 


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  But I just want to reinforce Mr. Juhn's comment, and that is that that entire exercise, the identification of risks includes a lot of information that the field provide us and it also includes the results of asset condition assessments, incident investigations, and so forth.  So it's not done in an ivory tower.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you very much.  That helps me a lot.  Thank you. 


Let me ask a question, and I think -- I can't recall which of the witnesses mentioned this, but there was a reference in budgeting, the standard -- in fact, I think the phrase was "standard salary increase of 3 percent."  What is that term?  What does it come from?  How do you interpret it? 


MR. CARLTON:  Well, I may have used that term.


MR. BETTS:  It may have been more than one of you, too.


MR. CARLTON:  In our business planning instructions, there are estimates of escalation, and what we would identify is what would be the escalator associated with base labour.  So our collective agreement would be in this case the three-year agreement that says next year salaries will increase 3 percent - I forgot what it is - and society staff will increase 3 percent.  So we know those escalation factors now because they are a collective agreement, or if not, we would give an estimate of what we thought the collective agreement would be.
     MR. BETTS:  And the use of the word "standard" before that number, is that because it happens every year?
     MR. CARLTON:  Each year there's usually an escalation associated with labour rate increases.  However, we do also have another standard where we would charge standard rates.  So we do estimate what standard rates would be and we use those to charge work programs.  So we take that escalation of labour, the impact of payroll burdens, impact of benefits, and we come up with a standard labour rate.
     MR. BETTS:  Now, we've had some comments about CPI, and the CPI, I think, was referred to CPI change over four or five years.  But generally if we assumed the CPI change was in the 2 percent range, what's the justification for a constant salary increase that's greater than a CPI increase?
     MR. CARLTON:  I would defer that to the panel on compensation of benefits.
     MR. BETTS:  I will remember to ask them.
     MR. CARLTON:  And they'll thank me.
     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  One question I maybe can ask you, and maybe this should be deferred to them as well:  To your knowledge, has there been any effort to benchmark the salaries and benefits of Hydro One to similar corporations?
     MR. CARLTON:  I believe that's left to the compensation panel.
     MR. BETTS:  I appreciate that.  That's no problem.
     Back to the external revenue question and the matter of support to Florida.  And I did appreciate some questions that were asked earlier because it helped me understand a little bit better, but one question that still lingers in my mind:  If, basically, you had to take out of your budget for one year I believe it was 28 million -- it might have been -- some number like that.  Let's not focus on the number.  It was in the 20s.  And in another budget year, 2005, there was about 8.5 million that was spent on supporting the state of Florida in an emergency situation. What effect did that have on your program?  As I look at the individual areas of spending, such as pole replacement, what effect did taking that resource out of your complement have on that program?
     MR. GEE:  In both scenarios, in 2004 and again this year, the response to assist Florida meant we had a regular staff that were not available for us to work.  However, we compensated for that by approaching the hiring hall, again, from a resource point of view, and bringing in additional staff to back-fill in behind them.  So with the impact so late in the year, there is probably some residual impact where we just couldn't recover all of it quick enough.  But generally we had been able to go to the hiring hall and with the resource flexibility that gives us, back-fill in behind them to continue do the work program and meet both the demand requirements and complete the planned work program.  So we do have that kind of flexibility to respond to it.
     MR. BETTS:  So the answer, I take it, is that the program was -- your original budgeted program was completed.
     MR. GEE:  Was fundamentally completed.
     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  And so there were costs for -- there were costs built into the budgets to get that program done.  The fact that the money has been taken out of the budget at one point, it's had to come back in.
     MR. GEE:  Yes, that's true.  We basically have had to increase the total amount of resources available to us to do both Florida and our work program.
     MR. BETTS:  And is hiring hall more expensive or less expensive than your own forces?
     MR. GEE:  The hiring -- it depends on the work they do and where they're going.  The labour rate is usually -- is quite a bit less expensive.  However, some of the organization and whether you had to use rental work equipment, there's some pluses and minuses, depending on the specific situation.  My general comment would be in trying to respond that late in the year without preplanning, that the savings from a lower labour rate are offset because of other juggling and last-minute decisions you have to do.
     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  But -- and I appreciate that.
     MR. GEE:  But the labour rate is significantly lower for hiring hall staff.
     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  That was another question I had.  But I think I can take it from that --
     MR. GEE:  Can I go back?  It's the standard lowered labour rate that is significantly different because of benefits and pension costs, among other things.  It's not necessarily that the individual gets a paycheque that's less on an hourly basis.  It's the total cost we incur.
     MR. BETTS:  And from that, could I take it that you were able to basically accomplish that program that you would have lost by giving away those resources at at least a similar price, then?
     MR. GEE:  I would say that it was a similar price overall.  As I say, I think other short-term recovery costs were higher than -- compensate for the lower labour costs.  It was fundamentally completed at fundamentally the same cost.
     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  Thank you.  You answered my question about the hiring hall.  

Regarding the request for information -- and I appreciate that we will be getting more on that and some of these questions may be deferred, but it's been my experience, at least in other -– in consideration of other applications with other utilities that a request for information doesn't necessarily generate the same or as accurate a result as one would get in a request for tender, where a party actually knows that there is work being offered and all they have to do is have the best price in order to receive that work.  Request for information is often either not responded to by everybody or perhaps not even responded to with a great deal of effort.
     How would you reply to that, and how confident are you that the request for information is a true assessment of the competitiveness?
     MR. GEE:  In this particular case, I think we recognize the major players that we would have expected to show interest did in fact respond.  We did have discussions with them.  The size of the vegetation program and the provincial scope of having to complete this work is one that not necessarily anyone's going to be able to do, you know.  So I think the players that we expected to be at the table did express interest and we were able to have discussions with them.
     So I think there was an expression of interest from all of them.  And in general to your point, at this point you're more likely to get people to give you some very positive news as opposed to when they have to put their final price in, it would have been our expectation.  So their discussions with them on what they were going to do, what they needed and how they were going to go about doing that, was what we were able to use to make our conclusions.
     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  And is there any possibility that the request itself was limiting enough that perhaps it made it difficult for you to see the competitiveness of their offering?  In other words, you've mentioned several times - and I was going to ask you about it - the size of the province, the magnitude of the request.  To what extent did that in itself predetermine the outcome of the request?
     MR. GEE:  Our request, I believe, went out in such a manner that we were not interested in dealing with 100 or 200 different contractors or, you know, two or three different -- dozen different contractors to try to get this work done.  That starts to add to our cost from contract administration, contract qualification.  So we would have been willing to break the contract into some smaller chunks, into, you know, a handful.  But very clearly, our request went out in a manner that we wanted –- we needed to recognize the contract administration cost and contractor qualification costs that we would need to deal with if we had too many vendors.
     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  I think that answers that.
     The final question relates to –- and, Mr. Rogers, I'm going to need your help on this.  The evidence that's been filed by Greater Sudbury, and appreciating that we haven't had that party before us yet but certainly there is -- there are several assertions made in that evidence that perhaps witnesses on this Panel may want to comment on or may need to comment on or, I mean, that will be your call or your client's call.  But I'm curious, first of all, whether you had any plans on how you might deal with that particular submission when we hear it, whether it be by bringing back witnesses or whether you wanted to allow this Panel to make any comments on it at this stage? 


MR. ROGERS:  What I had hoped to do, sir, was, having the issue raised this morning, I've asked them to consider and see whether they can tease out some information that would be comparable.  As I told you, they don't have information readily available that is comparable that can

refute the unsupported assertions that Sudbury makes in its submission.  But I'm hopeful that they'll be able to find some information, and I'd ask them to do this, which would be helpful to the Board, to make some comparisons.  And my plan was to file a written summary or have one or two

of these witnesses back perhaps on Thursday to address them.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  Those were all my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Betts.  


Mr. Vlahos. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Gentlemen, just a couple of areas.  Just going back to this emergency work outside the licensed area, Florida specifically in our example.  Earlier today, there were the terms used not for profit.  There was a corresponding or associated cost that was charged or cost pass-through.  I was left with the impression that you're going to receive

whatever is going to cost you incrementally, and then at the end of the day, I heard - I think it was Mr. Carlton - he used the word "on a loaded basis," “fully-loaded basis.”  Did you say that? 


MR. CARLTON:  I said that.


MR. VLAHOS:  Now I'm back asking the question again.  What does it mean in terms of the bottom line for Hydro One?  I thought it was on an incremental basis.


MR. CARLTON:  It's fully allocated cost.


MR. VLAHOS:  What does it mean?


MR. CARLTON:  It means they would get their share of not only the labour cost, payroll burden cost, company's overhead cost, all our fleet cost, pension costs, supervision cost, the cost even -- any incremental cost associated with travel, with lodging; all those types of costs are fully allocated to the work order, which is then invoiced.


MR. VLAHOS:  So going forward basis -- if those are the costs reflected in the company's rates, going forward, we're going through a test year now, so all the costs would be reflected into the cost of service.  So your rates would be reflected in that?


MR. CARLTON:  No.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm talking about your forecasting nothing for that type of activity; correct? 


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  So touch wood it happens again.  Then you're going to charge the out of jurisdiction, Florida perhaps, $22 million again, and that would be on a fully allocated cost basis.  But already you're recovering from your rates $22 million. 


MR. CARLTON:  I don't think we're recovering from rates $22 million.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry.  You're recovering $22 million, but what is going to happen is you're going to pay a smaller wage rate if you're going to use the -- what do we call it?


MR. CARLTON:  The hiring hall? 


MR. VLAHOS:  The hiring hall.


MR. CARLTON:  However, what we've indicated is that although the wage rate might be lower, the overall cost to do the work may be higher because we may not have trucks available to use.  We would have to go on a short-term basis, get some more vehicles; we might have to buy some more supervision, incremental travel, set-up cost; the efficiency of these hiring hall staff may not be as

efficient as our regular staff.  So I think the assessment of Mr. Gee was overall the costs would likely be the same.


MR. VLAHOS:  And that is your evidence before the Board.


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  There is no profit in this exercise? 


MR. CARLTON:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Despite the fact that you charge on a fully allocated cost basis? 


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Lastly, I just want to understand which cycle we're at now or the company's at in terms of its budget.  You have, I guess, approved -- you have board of directors' approval for this budget that you have come before the Board.


MR. CARLTON:  For the 2006? 


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.


MR. CARLTON:  Yes.  It went before our board of directors.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So maybe you can just help us understand what does it mean.  The board of directors are aware the budget will come before this board.


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  So when they approve the budget, it's, what, conditional upon this Board approving that budget? 


MR. CARLTON:  I'm not sure whether I'd say conditional.  It's certainly approved, recognizing that it is coming before this Board; that if this Board gives direction, then we would follow that direction and we

would make adjustments as necessary.  We wanted to start -- we are in 2006, so we put a plan in place, a budget in place, and we are operating as if this would be our final budget.  If we get redirection during the year, then we will accommodate.


MR. VLAHOS:  So how does it work out?  Do you fellows -- do you go through an exercise that in the event the Board is not going to allow the fully proposed capital budget and disallows by X percent, these are the areas we have to cut down on?  Do you go through that kind of exercise?


MR. CARLTON:  We would go through that exercise once we get the ruling.


MR. VLAHOS:  But not before?  There's no scenario here that you play with? 


MR. CARLTON:  No.  No we believe we would have time to accommodate direction from this Board within a year.  We have monthly reviews of what that is and we would take that --


MR. VLAHOS:  The same would apply to O&M budget.


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  So the extent, if the Board were inclined to make a reduction say in the capital budget, then surely you must go through an exercise where you have to identify what's discretionary for 2006? 


MR. CARLTON:  I think in that case what we'd go back to talk to the program prioritization process, which would have all our capital budgets and say this is where the line was.  If the line goes up here, this is the next risk that we would accept.  And we would look at that program.  For instance, the demand program will go ahead.  The number of new connects, we will connect them.  So there are programs that could be reduced, others that can't.


MR. VLAHOS:  So you lower or you increase the line, I guess, depending which way you're going to take a capital budget and that captures certain activities? 


MR. CARLTON:  And we would make --


MR. VLAHOS:  Or eliminates certain activities.


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  And how does the element of discretion come in here?  Just that this line moving up and down is something that is new to me. 


MR. CARLTON:  The line is -- it might be the first cut at what it should be, and then senior management sit down and as a group decide is that risk acceptable or, despite what that says, there's something else I may want to do in the year; any incidents, we might take those into account.


MR. VLAHOS:  Is it a policy by the company that they should only target the spending, what this Board will allow? 


MR. CARLTON:  I don't think that's a policy of the company.  We recognize what this Board allows is part of your revenue requirement.  If for some reason the company decides to -- for some reason it needs to spend more money or later in the year, let's say, a lot of storms or trouble was happening, some incidents which is driving up our cost which we can't react for, then we may well accept the case that we will overspend our revenue requirement and we won't get our return on equity.


MR. VLAHOS:  And you will -- I'm sorry?


MR. CARLTON:  That might not allow us to hit our --


MR. VLAHOS:  -- for that year.


MR. CARLTON:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  But you'll be coming back to explain to the Board why you had to spend those monies, to recognize that in a rate base for the next time? 


MR. PENSTONE:  As a minimum, we would explain the consequences of the Board's decision relative to our revenue requirements, to our Hydro One Board in terms of our programs, both OM&A and capital, and also explain to them the additional reduced risks that the company would now be exposed to.  And we would allow them to make their decision.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you very much for those answers. 


MS. NOWINA:  I have two really easy questions.  And late in the day, you're probably glad of that.  Your fiscal year runs from? 


MR. CARLTON:  January to December 31st.


MS. NOWINA:  And the rates are effective May 1st, so I assume that your calculations take that into account, that you make that assumption? 


MR. CARLTON:  I would assume so.  I'm not exactly sure.


MS. NOWINA:  There might be another panel that I could ask that question of.
     MR. ROGERS:  I think other panels that are more familiar with the regulatory construct.  I know there are.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I'll save the question, then.
     Mr. Rogers, do you need further redirect?
     MR. ROGERS:  No, I do not.  Thank you very much.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much, Panel.  We will take just a moment to discuss the schedule for the next few days.  It is wonderful to be finished this panel today, and I think we've covered a lot of ground in one day and asked all the questions we needed to ask.  Thank you, everyone, for your work in that regard.
     So we are next sitting on Thursday, and you have mentioned that you might want this panel to come back to discuss the -- let me call it the Sudbury issue.  Can we bring in Panel 3?
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes.
     MS. NOWINA:  For Thursday?
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I have Panel 3 here for Thursday, Madam Chair, to start.  As I say, I have some evidence on the Sudbury issue.  I thought probably the best time to do that would be Thursday, but I could do that on Friday.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize for interjecting at this point.  However, the arrangements have been made for the single witness from Sudbury to attend on Friday afternoon, the mayor of Sudbury.  That's the only time he could attend.
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  So I don't know who you intend from Panel 2 to bring at that time, but it would be appropriate to bring them probably at that time.
     MR. ROGERS:  At the same time to have the Sudbury.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  At the same time, yes.  We'll have the Sudbury hour, hopefully, not a day.
     MS. NOWINA:  I agree, Ms. Campbell.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  But he is arriving and is scheduled to come to Toronto for a period of time that is three hours on Friday afternoon.
     MR. ROGERS:  I see.  I'll meet his worship's convenience.  What I thought I'd do, with the Board's permission, is I don’t intend to call the whole panel back; I thought perhaps one or maybe two of the panel members could deal with the Sudbury issue if indeed we can find any useful information.  So I'd be prepared to bring them Friday afternoon, if you like.
     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we plan to do that on Friday and we will have Panel 3 on Thursday.  If there are any changes to that, when you stop to consider what you would like to present, then we can discuss those changes on Thursday.
     MR. ROGERS:  Very good.  So Thursday, Panel 3.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thursday we'll plan for Panel 3 and Friday morning for Panel 2.
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes.
     MS. NOWINA:  And we can confirm that on Thursday.
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Any other matters that anyone else wishes to raise?  9:00 will be the normal start date for this hearing, just to remind everyone of that, and we will see all of you at 9:00 Thursday morning.  Again, thank you very much, Panel.  You're released.
     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:45 p.m.
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